
Bryant City Council

Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room

210 SW 3rd Street

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

Date: January 31, 2023 - Time: 6:30 PM

Invocation

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Approval of Minutes

1. Unapproved Minutes from Special Council Meeting - January 1, 2023
• Bryant City Council SPECIAL City Council Meeting Jan 1 23.docx.pdf

2. Unapproved Minutes from Regular Council Meeting - December 14, 2022
• UNAPPROVED City Council Minutes December 14 2022.docx.pdf

Presentations and Announcements

3. 212 Day Proclamation

Proclamation declaring February 12, 2023 as "Bryant Hornet Day."

• 212 Day Proclamation 2023.pdf

4. Appointment of Council Liaisons & Committee Members

Jack Moseley appointed as Water/Wastewater Committee Liaison

Jordan O'Roark appointed as Parks Committee Liaison

Jon Martin appointed as Planning Commission Liaison

Ashley O'Roark appointed as Parks Committee Member

Director's Report

Public Comments

Old Business

New Business

Finance

5. Financial Report - Ending December 31, 2022

Presentation and approval of the 2022 December Year to Date City Financial Report, attachment pending.

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/bryant_city_council_special_city_council_meeting_jan_1_23-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/unapproved_city_council_minutes_december_14_2022-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/212_day_proclamation_2023.pdf


• 01.26.23 Dec Ending Financial Report.pdf

6. Budget Adjustments - For period ending December 31, 2022

Resolution providing for the Adoption of an Amended City Budget for the twelve month period beginning January 1, 2022

and ending December 31, 2022, attachment pending.

• 01.26.23 Dec Ending Budget Adjustments for 2022 Correct.pdf

7. Encumbrances and Budget Adjustments - For period ending December 31, 2023

Resolution providing for the Adoption of an Amended City Budget for the twelve month period beginning January 1, 2023

and ending December 31, 2023, attachment pending.

• 01.26.23 January 2023 Budget Adjustments with Encumbrances.pdf

City Attorney

8. City Council and Office of Mayor Code of Conduct 2023 - Request to Add to Agenda
• City of Bryant - Code of Conduct.docx.pdf

Community Development

9. Ordinance - Updated Sign Code - An Ordinance Amending Ordinance NO. 2012-29 Bryant Sign Code.

Requested Update of the Bryant Sign Code. Sign Code comes recommended by Bryant Planning Commission.

Highlighted Sign Code demonstrates changes from the existing Code.

• Ordinance - Bryant Sign Code Update 2023.pdf

• Highlighted Final Draft COB Sign Code 1_23_2023.docx.pdf

10. Updated Electrical Permit and Inspection Rate Changes Due to Increased Costs - An Ordinance

Amending Ordinance NO. 2019-26 Commercial and Residential Electrical Permit Fees.

Private Electrical Inspector is increasing his inspection price. The proposed rates reflect those changes.

• Ordinance - Eletrical Permit Update.pdf

Parks and Recreation

11. Wave of Competitive Bidding with Emergency Clause
• Ordinance to waive competitive bidding for Concessionaire for Parks (1).pdf

• concessions contract 2023.pdf

Council Comments

Mayor Comments

Adjournments

https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/01-26-23_dec_ending_financial_report.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/01-26-23_dec_ending_budget_adjustments_for_2022_correct.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/01-26-23_january_2023_budget_adjustments_with_encumbrances.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/city_of_bryant_-_code_of_conduct-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/ordinance_-_bryant_sign_code_update_2023.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/highlighted_final_draft_cob_sign_code_1_23_2023-docx.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/ordinance_-_eletrical_permit_update.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/ordinance_to_waive_competitive_bidding_for_concessionaire_for_parks_-1-.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_167/concessions_contract_2023.pdf


Bryant City Council SPECIAL City Council Meeting
January 1, 2023 -  2:00 PM

Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room
210 SW 3rd Street   Bryant, Arkansas

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

UNAPPROVED MINUTES

Prior to the Council Meeting, a prayer was given by Council Member Roedel who also led the Pledge
of Allegiance to the Flag.

Call to Order - Mayor Scott at 2:10 pm

Roll Call – Council Members Present: Jason Brown, Star Henson, Jon Martin, Lisa Meyer, Jack
Moseley, Jordan O’Roark, Wade Permenter, and Rob Roedel.  City Clerk Mark Smith was also
present.  Quorum Present.

Clerk Note: Prior to the meeting, all the elected City Officials were sworn in by Judge Casady.

City Government

1. Resolution Setting Bryant City Council Meeting Dates and Times for 2023 [YT 2:40]
Motion to Approve by Council Member Roedel, second by Council Member Henson.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 8-0.
฀ RESOLUTION 2023-1

Council Comments [YT 3:20]

Council Member Roedel and Martin said they look forward to serving with everybody.

Mayor Comments [YT 3:40]

The Mayor said he appreciated the Council Member’s service and he looks forward to working
with each Council Member.
Coffee with the Mayor will be in the City Hall Court Room Saturday, January 7 at 9:00 AM.

Adjournment
Motion to Adjourn by Council Member Meyer, second by Council Member Henson.
Adjourned time: 2:15 PM.

1

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas


Bryant City Council REGULAR City Council Meeting
December 13, 2022 -  6:30 PM

Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room
210 SW 3rd Street   Bryant, Arkansas

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

UNAPPROVED MINUTES

Prior to the Council Meeting, a prayer was given by Council Member Butch Higginbotham who also
led the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

Call to Order - Mayor Scott at 6:31 pm

Roll Call – Council Members Present: RJ Hawk, Star Henson, Butch Higginbotham, Jack Moseley,
and Rhonda Sanders.  City Clerk Mark Smith was also present.  Quorum Present.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. Approval of the November 15, 2022 Regular Council Meeting Minutes [YT 2:45]
Motion to approve by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Hawk.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.

PRESENTATIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS [YT 3:30]

Parks, Heritage and Tourism Grant – Amanda Fleming, Grant Coordinator
Ms. Fleming announced that awarding of a grant of $166,437.80 from the Department of
Parks, Heritage and Tourism’s Outdoor Recreation Grants Advisory Committee to the City of
Bryant to assist in the construction of inclusive play equipment and a rain garden at Mills Park.
Parks Director, Chris Treat said he was very grateful for Ms. Fleming managing this project in
the early months of her employment.

NEW BUSINESS

Motion to Suspend the Rules and Add an Item to the Agenda by Council [YT 6:35]
Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Hawk.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Clerk Note: This item is number 6A in these Minutes.

Finance – presented by Joy Black, Director of Finance

2. November Finance Report [YT 8:05]
Approval of the regular monthly financial report, period ending November 30, 2022.
See attachments.
Clerk Note: The Recap Memo to the Department Heads that Director Black quoted from is
included with the Meeting File in the Clerk’s Office.
Motion to approve by Council Member Hawk, Second by Council Member Henson.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.

1

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas


3. Budget Adjustments [YT 13:20]
Resolution to amend the 2022 City Budget.  See attachment.
Motion to approve by Council Member Hawk, Second by Council Henson.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-35

4. 2023 Proposed Budget Book [YT 14:00]
Resolution to accept the City Budget for 2023.  See attachment.
Motion to approve by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Sanders.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-36

Community Development – presented by Truett Smith, City Planner & Community Development Dir

5. Resolution for Property Clean Up – 840-05044-000/Public Hearing [YT 16:00]
Resolution approving expenses associated with property clean up under Ordinance No.
2012-30.  See attachment.
The required Public Hearing Opened at 6:45 PM.
There were no public comments.
Public Hearing Closed at 6:46 PM.
Motion to approve by Council Member Hawk, Second by Council Henson.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-37

6. Contingent on Planning Commission Recommendation – Update to Bryant Sign Code
An Ordinance Amending the Sign Code Ordinance 2012-29 of the City of Bryant. [YT 18:30]
Brief Discussion.
This item was tabled.

6A.Ordinance to Amend the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance [YT 21:30]
An Ordinance amending the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the City of Bryant to Rezone
Certain Property from R-E to R-2 at 2008 Johnswood.  See attachments.
Director Smith explained that this property was zoned R-E years ago and does not provide
enough width to build a house.  The Ordinance comes recommended by the Planning
Commission.
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only by Council Member
Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Sanders.
Voice vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Hawk.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Higginbotham, Moseley, Sanders.  ABSENT: Meyer,
Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ ORDINANCE 2022-33

Engineering/Construction – presented by Ted Taylor, City Engineer

7. Ordinance to Waive Competitive Bidding – Cambridge Place Drainage Improvements
See attachments. [YT 25:00]

2



Engineer Taylor explained that the storm water collection system in this area is vastly
undersized which results in flooding.  The new development has planned for a large retention
basin which along with the proposed infrastructure upgrade will greatly reduce flooding.  This is
phase one.  See attachments.
Discussion followed.
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only by Council Member
Hawk, Second by Council Member Higginbotham.
Voice vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Henson.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Higginbotham, Moseley, Sanders.  ABSENT: Meyer,
Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Motion to approve Emergency Clause by Council Member Moseley, Second by Council
Member Sanders.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Higginbotham, Moseley, Sanders.  ABSENT: Meyer,
Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ ORDINANCE 2022-34

Parks and Recreation – presented by Chris Treat, Director of Parks

8. Boys and Girls Club Ordinance Authorizing a Contract for Additional Services
See attached. [YT 31:10]
Director Treat thanked Susanne Passmore, CEO of the Bryant Boys and Girls Club, and her
team for all their efforts.
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only by Council Member
Hawk, Second by Council Member Sanders.
Voice vote.  Motion Passed 5-3. .
Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Henson.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Higginbotham, Moseley, Sanders.  ABSENT: Meyer,
Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Motion to approve Emergency Clause by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council
Member Henson.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Higginbotham, Moseley, Sanders.  ABSENT: Meyer,
Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ ORDINANCE 2022-35

9. Boys and Girls Club Ordinance Authorizing the Mayor to Execute a Program Agreement
See attached. [YT 33:50]
Motion to approve by Council Member Sanders, Second by Council Henson.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-38

10.Bryant Historical Society Agreement with Bryant Parks and Recreation Department
Director Treat explained that Parks will serve as the point of contact for the Bryant [YT 34:40]
Historical Society as they begin the new Historical Museum located in the old Fire Station next
to City Hall.  See attached.
Short Discussion.
Motion to approve by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Sanders.

3



11. Senior Activity Center Contract and Resolution
See attached. [YT 37:15]
Director Treat spoke of how important these programs are to Bryant seniors.
Motion to approve by Council Member Hawk, Second by Council Member Sanders.
Council Member Higginbotham recused from voting.  Mayor Scott voted yes.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-39

12.Senior Center Ordinance
See attached Agreement and Ordinance [YT 39:00]
Motion to Amend the Contract by Council Member Higginbotham to remove the words “Aquatic
Center” and leaving the words “Bishop Park” on page two.  Second by Council Member Hawk.
Council Member Higginbotham recused from voting.  Mayor Scott voted yes.
Voice Vote.  Amendment Adopted 5-3.
Motion to approve by Council Member Hawk, Second by Council Member Sanders.
Council Member Higginbotham recused from voting.  Mayor Scott voted yes.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Motion to suspend the rules and read 1st, 2nd, and 3rd reading by title only by Council Member
Hawk, Second by Council Member Moseley.
Council Member Higginbotham recused from voting.  Mayor Scott voted yes.
Voice vote.  Motion Passed 5-3. .
Ordinance title read by Mayor Scott.
Motion to adopt by Council Member Sanders, Second by Council Member Henson.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Moseley, Sanders. The Mayor voted YES.  Council
Member Higginbotham recused.  ABSENT: Meyer, Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
Motion to approve Emergency Clause by Council Member Henson, Second by Council
Member Hawk.
Roll Call Vote.  YES: Hawk, Henson, Moseley, Sanders.  The Mayor voted YES.  Council
Member Higginbotham recused.  ABSENT: Meyer, Permenter, Roedel.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ ORDINANCE 2022-36

13.Naming of Courts at Mills Park [YT 42:05]
Resolution to Name Tennis Courts at Wilbur D. Mills Park the Joyce Boswell Courts.
Director Treat said the City wants to honor Mrs. Boswell for her years of service by naming the
Courts at Mills Park after her.
Motion to Approve by Council Member Higginbotham, Second by Council Member Hawk.
Voice Vote.  Motion Passed 5-3.
฀ RESOLUTION 2022-40

Council Comments [YT 43:00]

Council Member Sanders asked for better for lighting for Bishop Park and to have the signs on
Interstate 30 repaired.
Council Member Hawk said that his four years on the Council have been special and he
thanked the other Council Members and said his service has been an honor.
Council Member Higginbotham said he was grateful, he has enjoyed the friendships and he
will be asking for the reinstatement of the A&P Tax.

4



Council Member Jack Moseley said he would like to spear-head the A&P Tax reinstatement.

Mayor Comments [YT 51:55]

Coffee with the Mayor will be on January 11, 2023 at a place to be announced.
Commonwealth Drive at Highway 5 will be closed by ARDOT for a few days for improvements.
Swearing-In for current and new Council Members will be January 1, 2023 at 2 PM in the City
Hall Courtroom.

Adjournment
Motion to Adjourn by Council Member Higginbotham, second by Council Member Hawk.
Adjourned time: 7:24 PM.

5



THE CITY OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS

CITATION AND PROCLAMATION TO THE CITIZENS OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS

WHEREAS, the 2022 Bryant High School Hornets football team claimed the Class 7A state
championship trophy for the fifth year in a row after the Bryant Hornets defeated the Bentonville
Tigers 36 to 7 at War Memorial Stadium in Little Rock, Arkansas; and

WHEREAS, though the Bryant football program has been in existence since 1949 when the team
was coached by Leonard Rollins, the 2022 team led the program to the school’s fifth state
championship and a ranking among the top 50 high school football teams in the country by
MaxPreps; and

WHEREAS, the Bryant Hornets had one of the best seasons in not only Bryant but Arkansas history,
posting a 12-0 record while winning many games with a running clock and setting a school record
of 53 consecutive wins over in-state opponents.

WHEREAS, the team was well-led by head coach Buck James supported by an excellent team of
assistant coaches, coordinators, athletic trainers, and other staff members; and

WHEREAS, Coach Buck James has created 212 culture of winning that transcends not just football
but every sport and extracurricular activity in the district, including Archery, Basketball, Volleyball,
Soccer, Tennis, Track and Field, Cross Country, Wrestling, Golf,  Quiz Bowl, and Robotics from the
elementary schools through the high school;

WHEREAS, Bryant Athletic Director Mike Lee and his staff also provided exceptional leadership in
the operation of the athletic department to support the success of all of the teams,

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Allen Scott, Mayor of Bryant, AR would like to acknowledge the
accomplishments of these hard-working coaches, staff, and players and congratulate the Bryant
High School Hornets football team on winning its back to back 5th State Football Championship on
behalf of the city, it’s residents and fans around the state. And declare February 12, 2023, as “Bryant
Hornet Day”.

































































































































































CITY OF BRYANT—CITY COUNCIL AND OFFICE OF MAYOR CODE OF CONDUCT
2023

I. Introduction

A code of conduct is a set of practices that the municipal leadership agrees to follow. This code
of conduct has been developed to reinforce the concept that the mayor and council members
serve as role models for their constituents and city staff. By adopting this code of conduct, the
city council publicly sets a civility standard for others to follow and recognizes the importance of
trust invested in them by the public to accomplish city business.

II. Overview of Rules and Responsibilities

A. The Mayor

The mayor presides over meetings of the council.

The mayor presides over the council in a manner designed to promote high standards of
democratic governance and chairs meetings with efficiency and fairness, never discriminating
against any speaker, whether council member or member of the public, based on the speaker's
point of view.

The mayor will not use his or her authority to thwart the democratic process.

● Example 1:     The mayor will not cancel or adjourn meetings for the purpose of
preventing a matter from coming to a vote.

● Example 2:     The mayor will not refuse to allow a matter to be voted upon if it has
received the necessary motion and second.

The mayor should sign all ordinances, resolutions, and city council minutes.

The mayor in cities and towns with mayor/council forms of government may veto any ordinance
resolution or order adopted by the council.

The mayor has the same speaking rights as any other members of the city council.

The mayor demonstrates honesty and integrity in every action and statement.

B. The City Council

The city council sets the time and place for regular city council meetings.

The city council demonstrates respect, kindness, consideration, and courtesy to others during
meetings.

City council members prepare in advance of meetings and are familiar with the issues on the
agenda.

The city council serves as a model of leadership and civility to the municipality.

The city council inspires public confidence in The City of Bryant and its city government.



All members of the city council have equal votes. No council member has more power than any
other council member, and should be treated with equal respect.

A city council member will remember at all times that as an individual he or she has no legal
authority outside the meetings of the city council and that he or she shall conduct relationships
with the city staff, the local citizens, and all modes of communication on the basis of this fact.

Council members will inform the mayor and the city clerk of plans to be absent from a council
meeting or plans to leave a council meeting before it is adjourned.

A city council member serves as a model of leadership and civility to the city.

A city council member recognizes that all electronic transmittals sent or received in performance
of their duties as a city council member are subject to The Arkansas Freedom of Information
Act.

III.     Principles and Guidelines

The city council shall hold themselves accountable to the following principles and guidelines:

A. City Council Members Conduct with One Another

This council is composed of individuals with a wide variety of backgrounds, personalities,
values, opinions, and goals. Despite this diversity, each council member has chosen to serve in
public office in order to preserve and protect the present and the future of the City of Bryant.
This common goal should be acknowledged even as council members may" agree to disagree"
on contentious issues.

1.  In Public Meetings

Practice Civility and Decorum in Discussions and Debate. Difficult questions, tough
challenges to a particular point of view, and criticism of ideas and information are legitimate
elements of a free democracy in action. This does not allow, however, council members to make
belligerent personal, impertinent, slanderous, threatening, abusive, or disparaging comments. No
shouting or physical actions that could be construed as threatening will be tolerated. Therefore:

Avoid personal comments that could offend other council members.

Honor the role of the mayor in maintaining order.

Be respectful of other members of the city council, boards, commissions, committees, city staff,
and the public by refraining from abusive conduct, personal charges, or verbal attacks.

Fully participate in council meetings and other public meetings while demonstrating respect,
consideration, and courtesy to others.

Limit use of technology during meetings except in the case of emergency.

City council member will always treat a fellow council member with the respect he or she would
expect to receive in return.



City council member will always address citizens, employees of the City, committee members,
and fellow council members with respect.

Request the opportunity to speak and address the council through the mayor or other person
conducting the meeting.

Recognize fellow council members and guest speakers by their formal names and appropriate
titles; after initial acknowledgement, the terms " Mr." or " Ms." may be used.

Be respectful of others' time and be brief and prepared in making remarks.

Be prompt in attending public meetings so that they may begin at the publicly posted time.

B.  Council Member Conduct with The Public

1.  Be Polite and Professional to Speakers and Treat Them with Care and Gentleness.

Because personal concerns are often the reason citizens come before the council to speak,
council members should remember that their behavior will either relax the speaker or push their
emotions to a higher level of intensity.

Limit comments to issues and avoid personal attacks.

Remain seated when someone is speaking at the podium.

Give the appearance of active listening.

Ask for clarification, but avoid debate and argument with the public.

Do not engage in personal attacks of any kind, under any circumstances

Make no promises on behalf of the council or staff.

Make no personal comments about other council members.

IV.     Principles of Proper Conduct

City of Bryant provides the following examples as a guide to the Principles of Proper Conduct:

A.  Proper conduct IS...

Keeping promises

Being dependable

Building a solid reputation

Participating and being available

Demonstrating patience

Showing empathy

Holding onto ethical principles under stress



Listening attentively

Studying thoroughly

Keeping integrity intact

Overcoming discouragement

Going above and beyond, time and time again

Modeling a professional manner

B.  Proper conduct IS NOT...

Showing antagonism

Deliberately lying or misleading

Speaking recklessly

Spreading rumors

Stirring up bad feelings or divisiveness

Acting in a self-righteous manner

V.       Glossary of Terms

Attitude:   The manner in which one shows one's dispositions, opinions, and feelings.

Behavior:  External appearance or action; manner of behaving; carriage of oneself.

Civility:    Politeness, consideration, courtesy.

Conduct:  The way one acts; personal behavior.

Courtesy:  Politeness connected with kindness.

Decorum:  Suitable; proper; good taste in behavior.

Manners:  A way of acting; a style, method, or form; the way in which things are done. Point of
Order:  An interruption of a meeting to question whether rules or bylaws are being broken ( i.e. if
the speaker has strayed from the motion currently under consideration).

Propriety:  Conforming to acceptable standards of behavior.

Protocol:  The courtesies that are established as proper and correct.

Respect The act of noticing with attention; holding in esteem; courteous regard.

Statement of Affirmation

This code of conduct is designed to describe the manner in which the mayor and council
members/board of directors should treat one another and others with whom they come in contact
in representing the City of Bryant.



I affirm that I have read and understand the City of Bryant's City Council and Office of Mayor
Code of Conduct. The principles and guidelines for mayor and aldermen set forth in this
document promote civility and set a standard of excellence that engenders trust and promotes the
public good. This municipality will not condone activities that are in violation of the principles
of appropriate conduct.

_______________________________
Council Member Lisa Myer

_______________________________
Council Member Wade Permenter

_______________________________
Council Member Jack Moseley

_______________________________
Council Member Rob Roedel

_______________________________
Council Member Jon Martin

_______________________________
Council Member Jason Brown

_______________________________
Council Member Jordan 0’Roark

_______________________________
Council Member Star Henson

_______________________________
Mayor Allen E. Scott



Page 1 of 1 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023- ________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO WAIVE THE COMPETITIVE BIDDING PROCESS FOR FOOD 

SERVICES MANAGEMENT AT BRYANT PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant has an immediate need for Food Management at the Bryant Parks 

and Recreation Department, and 

WHEREAS, the previous vendor is no longer with the City of Bryant due to reasons beyond our 

control; and 

WHEREAS, time is of the essence as we are in the season of recreational activities at Bryant Parks 

and it is not feasible or practical to advertise for bids at this time, and 

WHEREAS, Scott Hill, dba HCF, is a reputable vendor and Concessionaire.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

BRYANT, SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS: 

Section 1. Pursuant to Arkansas Code Annotated Section 14-58-303, the City of Bryant City Council 

makes the finding that exceptional circumstances exist and the bidding process is hereby deemed not 

feasible or practical. 

Section 2.  The City Council waives competitive bidding relating to the Food Management at Bryant 

Parks and Recreation Department.  The City of Bryant City Council has determined that it is 

necessary to waive competitive bidding.   

Section 3.  The Mayor or his designee is authorized to execute all contracts necessary to complete 

the agreement.. 

Section 5. If, for any reason, any portion of this ordinance is held to be invalid, such invalidity shall 

in no way affect the remaining portions thereof, which are valid, but such valid portions shall be and 

remain in full force and effect. 

Section 6.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed.   

Section 7. Emergency Enactment:  Whereas this is an exceptional situation and an Emergency is 

Declared; and this Ordinance shall be effective from and after its date of passage.  

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this __________day of January, 2023 

             

      ________________________________ 

      Allen E. Scott, Mayor 

ATTEST:      

 

________________________________  

Mark Smith, City Clerk   











 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE 2023 - ____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2012-29 BRYANT SIGN 

CODE. 
WHEREAS, the City of Bryant Arkansas desires to promote beautification efforts and promote 

the use of signs in the city which are safe, aesthetically pleasing, compatible with their 

surroundings and legible in the circumstances in which they are seen.  

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant recognizes the need for a well-maintained and attractive physical 

appearance of the community and the need for adequate business identification for the 

conduct of competitive commerce.  

WHEREAS, the City of Bryant desires to reduce sign or advertising distractions which may 

increase traffic accidents by distracting driver's attention from the roadway;  

NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS: 

SECTION 1: Enactment of Attached Sign Ordinance Regulations. 

The City Council of Bryant, Arkansas hereby approves and adopts by reference the Sign 

Ordinance. Said Ordinance shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk of the City of Bryant, 

Arkansas and from the date on which this ordinance shall take effect the provisions thereof 

shall be controlling within the limits of the City of Bryant and those areas in the territory subject 

to Bryant zoning regulations. 

SECTION 2: Severability and General Repealer. 

That all ordinances and part of ordinances of a permanent and general nature in effect at the 

time of adoption of this ordinance and not included herein, are hereby repealed where they are 

in conflict with this ordinance. 

All Ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the 

extent of such conflict. 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS ________ DAY OF ______________, 2023, BY THE 

CITY COUNCIL OF BRYANT, ARKANSAS. 

 

 

 

 

  

___________________________  ___________________________ 

Mayor Allen E. Scott       Mark Smith, City Clerk 



Community Development Department
Email: comdev@cityofbryant.com

Phone: 501-943-0488

mailto:comdev@cityofbryant.com


Table of Contents:
__________________________________________________________

Section One: Purpose and Scope Page 2
1.01 – Intent, Scope, and Applicability
1.02 - Purpose
1.03 - Authority

Section Two: General Provisions Page 3
2.01 - General
2.02 – Signs Prohibited
2.03 – Permit Requirement and Application
2.04 – Signs Not Requiring Permits

Section Three: Policies, Rules of Interpretation, and Standards Page 6
3.01 – Message Neutrality
3.02 – On-Premise/Off-Premise Distinction
3.03 – Sign Area Measurement
3.04 - Height
3.05 – Setback Requirements
3.06 – Lighting
3.07 – Changeable Copy
3.08 – Sign Projections from Buildings
3.09 – Sign Similarity to Official Signs
3.10 – Obstruction of Vision
3.11 – Interference with Utilities
3.12 – Maintenance Standards
3.13 – Abandonment

Section Four: Specific Requirements by Sign Type and Zoning District Page 9
4.01 – Signs Allowed in PUDs or Other Special Districts
4.02 –  Aesthetic Corridors and Interstate Sign Zone
4.03 – Temporary Sign Table
4.04 – Sign Table
4.05 –  Signs in Airport Industrial District

Section Five: Non-Conforming Signs Page 14
5.01 – Determination of Legal Nonconformity
5.02 – Loss of Legal Nonconforming Status

Section Six: Administration and Enforcement Page 15
6.01 – Administrative Official
6.02 - Variances
6.03 – Alternative Signage Plans
6.04 - Violations
6.05 – Removal of Signs by the Administrative Official
6.06 - Penalties

Section Seven: Conflict, Severability and Effective Date Page 17
7.01 - Conflict
7.02 - Severability
7.03 - Effective Date

Section Eight: Definitions Page 18

2



I. Section One: Purpose and Scope

1.01 – Intent, Scope, and Applicability
The scope of this Ordinance shall be to regulate signs intended to be viewed from any vehicular
or pedestrian public right-of-way or public/private fire apparatus road. These regulations are
intended to regulate signs in a manner that balances the right of free speech through sign
display against the competing public and governmental interests in community aesthetics,
safety, prevention of sign clutter and visual pollution, and other negative effects associated with
excessive and/or improper signage.

These regulations shall be supplemented by additional ordinances and regulations established
by the City of Bryant including the: Heart of Bryant Area Development Code and any other
applicable ordinances as may be established. In the event of a conflict between these
regulations and others, the most stringent regulations shall apply.

1.02 - Purpose
Signs are an important and necessary means of communication. When properly regulated, signs
can serve as a great economic and aesthetic asset. This Article provides standards for the
installation and maintenance of signs. All signs shall be installed and maintained in accordance
with this Article, as applicable. The general purpose of these standards is to promote, preserve,
and protect the health, safety, general welfare, convenience, and enjoyment of the public as
well as to prevent the degradation of the aesthetic quality of Bryant, and to achieve the
following:

A. Safety
To promote the safety of persons and property by providing that signs:

1. Do not create a hazard due to collapse, fire, collision, decay, abandonment, or other
safety considerations;

2. Do not obstruct firefighting, police, and private security surveillance;
3. Do not create traffic hazards by confusing or distracting motorists;
4. Do not impair the motorist’s ability to see pedestrians, obstacles, other vehicles, or to

read traffic signs and signals;
5. Do not cause hazardous or unsafe driving conditions for motorists due to their lighting or

visual motion; and,
6. Do not otherwise interfere with or detract from the safety of persons or property.

B. Communications Efficiency
To promote the efficient transfer of information in sign messages providing that:

1. Customers and other persons may identify and locate a business, establishment, or
service;

2. No person or group is arbitrarily denied the use of the sight lines from the public
right-of-way for communication purposes; and,

3. The messages in signs may otherwise be communicated efficiently.

3



C. Landscape Quality and Preservation
To protect the public welfare and to enhance the appearance and economy of the city, by
providing signs that:

1. Do not unreasonably interfere with scenic views;
2. Do not create a nuisance to persons using the public rights-of-way;
3. Do not constitute a nuisance to occupancy of adjacent property by their brightness, light

glare and reflection, size, height, movement, or visual movement;
4. Are not detrimental to land or property values;
5. Do not overwhelm people by the number of messages presented, and do not interfere

with the exercise of freedom of choice to observe or ignore said messages, according to
the observer’s purpose;

6. Do not create or worsen visual clutter or visual blight;
7. Do not cover or blanket any prominent view of a structure or façade of historical or

architectural significance;
8. Do not obstruct views of users of adjacent buildings to side yards, front yards, or to open

space;
9. Are compatible with the fabric of existing neighborhoods and do not impose a foreign or

inharmonious element to an existing skyline;
10. Contribute to the special character of particular areas or districts within the city, helping

the observer to understand the city and be oriented within it;
11. Protect and preserve a quality landscape in the city; and
12. Otherwise enhance the appearance and economy of the city.

1.03 - Authority
This Ordinance is adopted under the authority conferred on the City of Bryant by the General
Assembly of the State of Arkansas by the A.C.A. § 14-56-401 through § 14-56-426.

II. Section Two: General Provisions

2.01 - General
It shall be illegal for a person or entity to install, place, modify, move, or maintain a sign within
the City of Bryant except in accordance with the regulations of this Ordinance. These
regulations establish the minimum standards for the installation, construction, and
maintenance of signage. The number and area of signs as outlined in these regulations are
intended to be maximum standards. These regulations shall not apply to any signage which is
not directly viewable from a public street, alley, trail, or publicly accessible fire-apparatus road.
Signs shall only be permitted upon lots/parcels or buildings which are not vacant and occupied
by a conforming or nonconforming primary use.

2.02 - Signs Prohibited - The following types of signs are prohibited in all districts:

A. Abandoned signs.
B. Signs imitating or resembling official traffic or government signs or signals.
C. Signs imitating warning signals.

4



D. Signs within Right-of-Way. No sign whatsoever, whether temporary or permanent, except
erected by an official governmental agency is permitted within any street or highway right-
of-way or City of Bryant public easement.

E. No signs may be painted on or attached to trees, rocks, or other natural formations, fence
posts, utility poles, public benches, streetlights, or building roofs.

F. Portable signs. A portable sign is any sign designed to be moved easily and not permanently
affixed to the ground or to a structure or building.

G. Off-premise/off-site signs, except as permitted by Bryant Billboard Ordinance No. 2006-42.
H. Signs that are mounted, attached, or painted on trailers, boats or vehicles when parked to

be used as additional signage on or near a business premises; and similar signs.
1. No vehicle or trailer with advertising message mounted or painted thereon may be

parked continuously for more than fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days in any zoning
district, so that it becomes an advertising sign.

2. Exception - Such vehicles or trailers parked on active construction sites or within a
commercial zoning district with an approved temporary business permit for the vehicle
or trailer are exempt from this regulation.

2.03 – Permit Requirement and Application
Except where explicitly exempted from permitting requirements by this Ordinance, no sign may
be erected, transferred, rebuilt, changed, or structurally altered unless a permit has been issued
by the Administrative Official or his/her designee. Addition or modification of illumination of
any existing sign which changes the form or intensity of the sign’s lighting shall require a sign
permit.

Maintenance of existing signs, including change of copy, painting of support structures, and
same for the same exchange of lighting elements shall not require a sign permit. Sign design
changes or structural alteration of a sign or sign support structure shall not be considered
maintenance.

A. Applications
Application for a sign permit shall be made by means provided by the City of Bryant and
shall contain at least the following:

1. Applicant Information. Name and address of the applicant and/or contractor.
2. Location Information. Street address and/or location of the property where the signage

will be located.
3. Property Owner/Authorized Agent. Name and address of the property owner of the sign

location along with proof the applicant is an authorized agent of the property owner, if
the applicant is not the property owner.

4. Scaled Site Plan.  A scaled site plan showing the location(s) of the signage on the
property or building and showing street right-of-way, property lines, and easements as
well as relationship to major site features such as buildings, parking, etc. For wall signs,
provide dimension of walls and all walls signs (including windows) on the affected
building elevation(s).

5. Scaled Sign Drawing. A scaled drawing(s) of the signage showing the design and
including dimensions of the sign height, area, design, content, and dimensions of the
sign as well as the design and dimensions of any measures used to support the sign or
used to affix the sign to a wall, window or the ground.

5



6. Materials List and Illumination Design. Indication of materials used for the signage along
with details/design on how the sign will be illuminated.

7. Sign Calculations. Computation of the total sign area, the area of each individual sign,
the height of each sign, and the total number and size of existing and proposed signs on
the site or structure.

8. Structural Plans. Structural design plans developed by a licensed professional engineer
shall be required for any sign with a support structure exceeding twenty (20) feet tall.

9. Other Information. Other information as required by the Administrative Official or
his/her designee that is reasonably necessary to demonstrate compliance with these
regulations.

B. Application Approval and Issuance
The Administrative Official or his/her designee shall be charged with review of all sign
permit applications based upon provisions of this Ordinance and other applicable
regulations. Review shall be completed within thirty (30) days from receipt of the completed
application, including all fees. A decision must be rendered to approve, deny, or provide
notice of deficiencies in the application by the end of this thirty (30) day review period. A
notice of deficiencies in the application will be provided in writing to the applicant.  Any
application which is amended or corrected within sixty (60) days of receipt of a notice of
deficiencies in the application shall not be charged an additional sign review fee. An
application shall only be approved when full compliance of the application with these
regulations is demonstrated. False statements or misrepresentations of facts in the
application may constitute grounds for denial of an application. For any application which is
denied, a written explanation of denial will be provided to the applicant upon request.

C. Fee
Fees shall be submitted and paid prior to review of the application. All fees are
non-refundable. The fee shall be set in accordance with a schedule of fees adopted by the
City Council. If no schedule of fees is adopted, following adoption of these regulations, the
fee shall be fifty dollars ($50) per sign. Unpermitted work completed prior to approval of a
sign permit shall be assessed a one-hundred fifty-dollar ($150) fee payable prior to issuance
of a sign permit for any subsequent work. All fees shall be in addition to any applicable state
trade fees.

D. Inspection and Expiration
The person or contractor completing the work covered under the permit shall notify the
Administrative Official or his/her designee after completion of work. A final inspection, in
addition to any footing or electrical inspections, shall be required to confirm compliance
with the terms of the sign permit. All work covered under a sign permit shall be completed
within twelve (12) months of the date of issuance of the permit, or the permit shall become
void and null. The Administrative Official may revoke any permit or order any sign removed
upon notice and for cause as set out in this Ordinance.

6



2.04 - Signs Not Requiring Permits - The following types of signs are exempt from the permit
requirements but must be in conformance with all other requirements of the ordinance:

A. Temporary Signs.
B. Signs less than two (2) square feet in size that are non-illuminated and attached to a building

or structure or supported by a post and arm structure, limited to one (1) per building.
C. Governmental signs and official public signs, including but not limited to, wayfinding signs,

public notice signs, required postings by state/federal/local law, safety signs, danger signs,
or traffic signs.

D. Window signs.
E. Incidental signs less than Six (6) square feet in size.
F. Markers located at historic sites which are recognized by local, state, or federal authorities.
G. A-Frame signs. Cannot block sidewalks.
H. Signs created by landscaping and comprised only of vegetation.
I. Handheld signs displaying protected noncommercial messages.

III. Section Three: Policies, Rules of Interpretation, and Standards

3.01 – Message Neutrality - This Ordinance is not intended to regulate signs in a manner that favors
commercial speech over noncommercial speech. A noncommercial message may, in whole or in part,
substitute a commercial message on any sign, provided all requirements of this Ordinance and other
applicable regulations are met. This Ordinance is not intended in any way to regulate the message or
content of any form of temporary signage.

3.02 – On-Premise/Off-Premise Distinction - The distinction between on-premise and off-premise
signage applies only to permanent signage with a commercial message. It does not apply to
noncommercial messages or temporary signs.

3.03 – Sign Area Measurement - When
calculating the surface area of any sign, a
maximum of three (3) distinct and abutting
"Areas" made up of squares or rectangles may
be used to encompass the extreme limits of
the writing, representation, emblem, or other
display, together with any material or color
forming an integral part of the background of
the display or used to differentiate the sign from the backdrop or
structure against which it is placed. The minimum size for an
“Area” is one square foot. Calculations shall be based upon
measuring the largest sign face. No more than two (2) sign faces
shall be permitted. Calculations shall not include the pole support
structure for signs exceeding ten (10) feet in height. For
freestanding signs, only one side  or sign face shall be used to
determine the area.

7



3.04 – Height - When determining height, the average established ground level beneath the sign shall
be used for measurement. Where the elevation of a street curb or sidewalk is higher than the average
established ground level, height shall be measured from the elevation of the street curb or sidewalk.
Any berm or fill greater than one (1) foot tall placed at the base of the sign shall not be considered the
average established ground level.

3.05 - Setback Requirements
A. No Sign shall be erected or maintained except in conformity with the following setback

requirements:
1. Front: Signs shall be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from back of curb, edge of

roadway surface, or street right- of-way, whichever is greater.
2. Side: All signs shall be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from the nearest side

property line
B. Exceptions: The above setback requirements shall not apply to those signs mounted on

building walls lawfully sited within the setback space, when such signs otherwise conform to
the provisions of this ordinance.

C. No sign shall block sidewalk, multi-use trail, or pedestrian pathway.

3.06 - Lighting
A. Unless otherwise prohibited by this Ordinance, all signs may be illuminated. No illuminated sign

shall be permitted within which faces the front, side, or rear lot lines of any residential lot
regardless of zoning district and is located within fifty (50) feet thereof.

B. Every part of the light source of any illuminated sign shall be concealed from view from
vehicular traffic in the public right-of-way or adjacent property. The light shall not travel from
the light source directly to vehicular traffic in the public right-of-way or adjacent property, but
instead shall be visible only from a reflecting or diffusing surface.

C. This provision shall not apply to neon tube lighting or electronic message centers operating in
accordance with this Ordinance.

D. Backlit Illuminated Awnings- Unless expressly provided otherwise in this Ordinance, awning
signs may be illuminated, including without limitation by backlighting.

3.07 - Changeable Copy - Unless otherwise specified by this Ordinance, any sign herein allowed may
use manual changeable copy or electronic message centers as follows:

A. Electronic message centers in C-2 and C-3 Commercial Zoning Districts may display animation so
long as flashing is not utilized.

B. Electronic message centers are not allowed in any residential zoning district.
C. All electronic message centers must be equipped with automatic dimming technology which

automatically adjusts the sign's brightness in direct correlation with natural ambient light
conditions.

D. The light emitted by an electronic changeable copy sign shall not exceed a brightness level of
0.3-foot candles above ambient levels as measured by a foot-candle meter at the distance and
using the method described below.

1. The reading shall be taken with the meter aimed directly at the digital sign at a distance
of 150 ft or neighboring property line, whichever is less.

2. Measurements of ambient light and sign output may be taken at any time. Nighttime
measurements shall be taken no less than 30-minutes past sunset and no more than
30-minutes prior to sunrise.

8



3. Ambient light shall be determined using a foot-candle meter at the appropriate distance
as indicated in this Section while the electronic changeable copy sign is off or displaying
all black copy. Increased ambient light caused by the electronic changeable copy sign
shall be determined by using the same meter at the same location after causing the
electronic changeable copy sign to show full white copy. If the difference in the two (2)
readings is greater than 0.3-foot candles, then the light emitted by the electronic
changeable copy sign exceeds the level authorized by this Section.

3.08 - Sign Projections from Buildings - Signs attached to and wholly supported by a building shall not
project more than eight (8) feet from any building and the bottom of such sign shall not be less than
ten (10) feet above the sidewalk or fourteen (14) feet above a vehicular right of way and shall not
project into the public right- of-way.

3.09 - Sign Similarity to Official Signs - No sign may be placed or designed so as to simulate or interfere
with traffic control devices or official highway signs.

3.10 - Obstruction of Vision - No sign or sign landscaping may be installed in a manner to obstruct
vision of pedestrian and vehicular traffic at street intersections, driveways, alleys, or publicly accessible
fire apparatus roads.

No sign or sign landscaping in excess of two (2) feet in height may be installed in a clear view zone.
Clear view zones areas are measured from the point of intersection of lines that extend along the edge
of pavement at intersections between streets or publicly accessible fire apparatus roads and another
street, another publicly accessible fire apparatus road, driveway, or alley. See clear view zone figure.

The measurements for clear view zones shall be as follows:

A. Street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road to
street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road
intersections: Thirty
(30) feet.

B. Driveway/alley and
street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road:
Twenty (20) feet.

9



3.11 - Interference with Utilities - No part of any sign shall be located within or over the designated
safety zone of any City of Bryant water, sewer, and drainage easement.

3.12 – Maintenance Standards - Every sign, including those specifically exempt from this ordinance in
respect to permits and permit fees, and all parts, portions, and materials shall meet these maintenance
standards.

A. All sign(s)/sign support structures and premises surrounding the same shall be maintained
in a clean, sanitary condition free and clear of all rubbish and weeds.

B. All sign(s)/sign support structures shall be kept in compliance with all building and electrical
codes, in conformance with the requirements of this Ordinance.

C. All sign(s)/sign support structures shall be kept free of deterioration, breakage, termite
damage, rot, corrosion, rust, or loosening.  All paint and materials shall be kept free of
cracking, peeling, or fading.

3.13 – Abandonment - Abandoned signs shall be required to be removed. For signs which are legally
permitted and conforming, removal shall consist of removal of any sign message. Signs which are
legally nonconforming or otherwise nonconforming, removal shall consist of total removal of the sign
including all sign support structures.

Excluding billboards, a sign shall be considered abandoned when the building or lot/parcel upon which
the sign is located is no longer occupied and vacant or actively being marketed for sale or lease for a
period of more than ninety (90) consecutive days.

IV. Section Four: Specific Requirements by Sign Type and Zoning District

4.01 – Signs Allowed in Planned Unit Developments or Other Special Districts - Sign requirements for
districts not covered by these regulations including Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) and other forms
of special zoning shall be established by the document or regulations created for the development or
district. If not established for the development or in the regulations pertaining to the special district, an
applicant may petition for the development or district to be treated similarly to one or more of the
districts contained in this Ordinance. The Administrative Official shall make a written determination
pertaining to the request based on the similarity of the development or district(s) to one or more of the
districts in this Ordinance. If the Administrative Official denies the petition, the applicant may request
an appeal of a decision of the Administrative Official.

4.02 – Aesthetic Corridors and Interstate Sign Zone
A. Aesthetic Corridors

Freestanding or pole signs that are constructed, removed, destroyed or replaced shall be
replaced only with a monument or ground-mounted sign when the building or parcel/lot is
located with lot frontage and/or obtains access via driveway or publicly accessible fire
apparatus road along the roadways listed below. Such signs shall meet all other regulations.

1. Springhill Road
2. Hilldale Road
3. Bryant Parkway
4. Woodland Park

10



5. Springhill Overpass to Woodland Park
6. Prickett Road from Woodland Park to Reynolds Road
7. Prickett Road
8. Boone Road
9. Reynolds Road from Mills Park Road, South to City Limits line.
10. Mt. Carmel Road
11. Brandon Road

B. Interstate Sign Zone
1. Freestanding or pole signs must be located in C-3 zoning and be 100 feet from the

residentially zoned property.
2. Freestanding or pole signs within five hundred (500) feet of the centerline of the median

of Interstate 30 shall not exceed seventy-five (75) feet in height and two hundred (200)
square feet in size.

3. Freestanding or pole signs within seven hundred fifty (750) feet of the centerline of the
median of Interstate 30 shall not exceed fifty (50) feet in height and one hundred fifty
(150) square feet in size

11



4.03 - Temporary Sign Table

Sign Type/Form Limitations (Where Permitted)
Residential Zoning

Districts - R-1, R-1.S,
R-2, R-E, R-M

Residential
Zoning District -
Non-Residential

Use

Commercial
O-1

Commercial
C-1

Commercial
C-2

Commercial
C-3

Construction Signs When a building or parcel/lot is under
construction or renovation

P
Max. 2 per Building or

Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 48 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

Real-Estate Signs
Number Allowed: 1 per frontage

and/or
1 per tenant lease space

P
1 additional sign

allowed for no more
than 36 hours when

the property is open to
the public.

6 sq. ft. Max. area,
Max Height: 6ft

P P P P P

Temporary Signs During
Election

Display Time Duration:
70 calendar days prior or 7 days following

any federal, state, or local election
authorized by the Saline County Election

Commission and held in the City of Bryant.

P P P P P P

Garage, Yard, or Estate Sale
Signs

Number Allowed: 1 per frontage.
Installation: Ground mounted on a stake or

wire frame.
Max. Size and Height: 6 sq. ft. and 4 ft. tall.

Time Duration: No more than 48 hours.

P P P P P P

A-frame Signs
Number Allowed: 1 per building.

Max. Size and Height: 6 sq. ft. and 3ft. tall.
Must maintain a 5 ft. clearance for

pedestrians.

X P P P P P

General Temporary Signs

Number Allowed: 1 per building or
parcel/lot.

Max. Size and Height: 32 sq. ft. and 6 ft.
tall.

Signs such as banners, pennants, and
posters are considered temporary signs.

Time Duration: 7 Days.

X P P P P P

12



4.04 - Residential Zoning Sign Table

Sign Type Form Limitations (Where Permitted)
R- 1, R-1.S, R-2, R-E, R-M Zoning Non-Residential Use in Residential Zoning

District

Address Sign P P

Free Standing Signs
Monument/

Ground-
mounted Signs

Max.1 freestanding sign per
Frontage.

P
Max. 1 sign per frontage external to
the subdivisions or neighborhood;

Max. size 48 sq. ft., Max. height 6 ft.;
Setback: May be placed at the property line,

provided it does not extend into the clear view zone
or easement.

P
Max. 1 sign; Max. Size;  48 sq. ft.; max height 6 ft.;

Setback: May be placed at the property line,
provided it does not extend into the clear view zone

or easement.

Pole Signs X X

Changeable Copy
(Electronic Message

Centers)
X X

Shopping Center
Directory Signs X X

Wall- Attached Signs Facade Signs * X P

Awning Signs * X P

Canopy Signs * X P

Window Signs * X P

Projecting Signs (Blade
Signs)

*
1 per occupancy; May not project
more than 8 ft. from the side of the

building; Clearance:10 ft. above
sidewalk grade and 14 ft. vehicular

way grade.

X P

Incidental Sign

Number Allowed: No limit,
provided area requirements are
met. Max. size: 6 sq. ft. per sign,

24 sq. ft. per occupancy.

P P

★ Number allowed: No Limit unless otherwise noted, provided area requirements are met. (Area includes wall signs, awning signs, under canopy signs, canopy signs, projecting signs, and window
signs). Other: Allowed on each building elevation for primary/principal buildings;  Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear ft of building frontage on elevation where the sign is installed. Maximum total area
per occupancy 32 sq. ft.

13



4.05 - Commercial Zoning Sign Table

Sign Type Form Limitations (Where Permitted) O-1 Zoning(150 Sq. Ft.
Max) C-1 Zoning(200 Sq. Ft. Max) C-2 Zoning(300 Sq. Ft. Max) C-3 Zoning(350 Sq. Ft. Max)

Address
Sign

P P P P

Free
Standing

Signs

Monument/
Ground-

mounted Signs

Max.1 freestanding sign per roadway frontage P
Max. size: 64 Sq. Ft.

Max. height: 8 Ft.

P
Max. size: 64 Sq. Ft.

Max. height: 8 Ft.

P
Max. size: 80 Sq. Ft.
Max. height: 10 Ft.

P
Max. size: 96 Sq. Ft.
Max. height: 12 Ft.

Pole Signs X X
P

Max. 100 sq. ft. each and
25 ft. tall.

P
Max. 120 sq. ft. each and

30 ft. tall.

Changeable
Copy (Electronic

Message
Centers)

See Section 3.07 X X

P
Max. 40% of the sign area
or 48 sq. ft., whichever is

less.

P
Max. 40% of the sign area
or 64 sq. ft., whichever is

less.

Shopping Center
Directory Signs X

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

Wall-
Attached

Signs
Facade Signs *

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Awning Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Canopy Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Window Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Projecting Signs
(Blade Signs)

*
1 per occupancy; Max. projection 8ft from
building; Clearance:10 ft. above sidewalk

grade, 14 ft. vehicular way grade.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Incidental
Sign

No max. limit, provided area req. are met.
Max. size: 6 SF per sign, 24 SF per

occupancy.
P P P P

★ Number allowed: No Limit unless otherwise noted, provided area requirements are met. (Area includes wall signs, awning signs, under canopy signs, canopy signs, projecting signs, and window
signs). Other: Allowed on each building elevation for primary/principal buildings; Area: Max Area based on linear ft. of building frontage on elevation where the sign is installed.

14



A. The Specific surface area of commercial signs displaying gasoline prices only shall be exempt

from calculations of the total aggregate surface area.

B. Internal businesses and brands contained within a host business are allowed exterior

signage. The sign area utilized by the internal business/brand shall be deducted from the

sign area allowed for the host business sign area.

C. In the case of a corner lot fronting on two public streets, a business will be allowed to add

an additional 100 square feet to the total maximum aggregate surface area of the permitted

signs. To be used only for signs on one of the street frontages.

D. No single sign may utilize more than 50% of the total maximum aggregate surface footage

allowed. With the exception of the interstate sign zone.

4.06 - Signs in the Airport Industrial District

Signs in the Airport Industrial District are governed by the regulations established specifically for
that district.

V. Section Five: Non-Conforming Signs

5.01 - Determination of Legal Nonconformity
A. A nonconforming sign is any permanent sign that was legally established and maintained in

compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws in effect at the time of original
installation but that does not comply with the provisions of this sign ordinance as of the
date this ordinance is adopted.

B. A nonconforming sign, as defined above, shall be allowed continued use, except that the
sign shall not be expanded, moved, or relocated, except in the case of street relocation. A
nonconforming sign shall be allowed continued use even if ownership of the property
changes.

5.02 - Loss of Legal Nonconforming Status - A legal nonconforming sign shall lose this
designation in the following instances:

A. When the sign is intentionally damaged or destroyed or fails to observe the following
restrictions in cases of unintentional damage or destruction:
1. If the sign face is unintentionally damaged or destroyed, the face may be replaced. The

sign face supporting structure may be temporarily placed on the ground in order to
replace the sign face or service the structure.

2. If the structural components of the sign including the face structure is damaged or
destroyed, the structure and face may be replaced with a new face and structure not to
exceed the size, height or location of the established nonconforming sign.

B. When the size of the sign is altered in any way, except toward compliance with this
ordinance, it will lose its legal nonconforming status. This does not refer to change of copy,
face of the sign, or normal maintenance. Normal maintenance does not include the
replacement of structural elements.

C. When the sign(s) advertising a building/development contains the majority of the
businesses/tenants and the building/development undergoes major redevelopment such as
demolition or expansion requiring a building permit.
Exceptions:
1. A remodel of an existing building will not cause the loss of legal non- conformity.

15



2. The construction of an additional building on the same property shall not cause the loss
of legal non- conformity.

D. When the sign is expanded, moved, or relocated, except in the case of street relocation.

VI. Section Six: Administration and Enforcement

6.01 – Administrative Official
A. All sign permits shall be issued by the Administrative Official or his/ her designee. The

Director of Community Development is the Administrative Official for the purposes of this
Ordinance.

B. The Administrative Official or his/ her designee is empowered, upon presentation of proper
credentials, to enter or inspect any building, structure, or premises in the City for the
purpose of inspection of a sign and its structural and electrical connections to ensure
compliance with all applicable codes and ordinances. Such inspections shall be carried out
during business hours unless an emergency exists.

6.02 - Variances
A. A variance for height, location, type, etc. may be requested. No area variance may be

requested.
B. Requests for sign variances shall be in writing and shall be submitted along with the sign

application. Such a request shall demonstrate that special conditions or circumstances exist
that are not applicable to other lands, structures, or buildings such that a literal
interpretation of the ordinance would result in an undue hardship.

C. The Board of Zoning Adjustment shall review the request to determine if the variance
should be granted and may grant or deny the request.

D. If the Board of Zoning Adjustment denies the variance or takes no action on the request
within 30 days following the variance request appearing on its agenda, the variance shall be
deemed denied. The applicant may then appeal the decision to the City Council. The appeal
must be submitted to the Planning Department no less than thirty( 30) working days from
the date of the Planning Commission's decision or the deemed denied date whichever may
apply. In order to be placed on the City Council agenda, the appeal must be submitted no
less than eleven ( 11) days prior to the City Council meeting. If the decision is appealed but it
is within the 11 days prior to the next City Council meeting, it shall be placed on the
following month's regularly scheduled City Council meeting agenda.

E. A variance may be granted only when the requirements noted above have been met. The
Board of Zoning Adjustment or City Council shall grant only the minimum variance required
to make possible the variance request, provided that such variance will be in harmony with
the general purpose and intent of the ordinance and will not be injurious to the
neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.

F. Fees shall be submitted and paid prior to review of the application. All fees are
non-refundable. The fee shall be set in accordance with a schedule of fees adopted by the
City Council. If no schedule of fees is adopted, following adoption of these regulations, the
fee shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250).

16



6.03 – Alternative Signage Plan
A. An alternative signage plan may be used where impractical situations would result from this

Ordinance. Alternative locations, size or quantity may be justified due to topography, utility
easements, lot configuration or subdivision (particularly with respect to a shopping center),
or location and size of pre-existing development. Also, the proposed use or collection of
uses may not be captured by the spirit and intent of this Ordinance, justifying an Alternative
Signage Plan. Such plans shall require the approval of the Planning Commission.

B. Application shall be made in the same manner as prescribed in §203. The application must
additionally include a written letter of justification for the request detailing how the
application meets the approval criteria. No application may be accepted without inclusion of
a letter of justification.

C. The fee for such applications shall be determined by a fee schedule adopted by the City
Council. If no fee schedule is adopted following passage of these regulations, the fee shall be
two hundred fifty dollars ($250).

D. At least one of the following conditions shall be met in order for an Alternative Signage Plan
to be considered for approval:

1. The applicant must show that installation of signage per this Ordinance while meeting
other site-specific constraints as listed above would put the site in direct violation of
other City Ordinances or State or Federal regulations, under any practical site layout
configuration.

2. The use(s) and/or architectural elements proposed for the site (as already approved by
the Planning Department) are such that a standard sign plan under this Article would be
considered not in keeping with the code and fail to meet the general purpose of the
code outlined in this Ordinance.

3. The sign is at least fifty (50) years old and can be determined to have important historic
significance by the Administrative Official as being a historically important place,
historically important business or entity, or embodying a design or features of historical
importance based upon generally accepted historic preservation professional practice
standards.

4. Approval of the Alternative Signage Plan would result in a preferable outcome to the
residents of Bryant in contrast to only advancing the property or economic interests of
the applicant.

6.04 - Violations
A. In cases of emergency, the Administrative Official or his/her designee may cause the

immediate removal of a dangerous or defective sign without notice. Signs removed in this
manner must present a hazard to the public safety as defined in the local building or traffic
codes.

B. In cases of illegal signs placed in the public right- of-way, or if banners or temporary signs
become faded, worn or tattered; or have become detached from the structure designed to
support the signage, the Administrative Official or his designee may cause immediate
removal of the sign without notification of the owner of the sign.

17



6.05 - Removal of Signs by the Administrative Official
A. Signs located within the public right-of-way or which fail to comply with the written orders

of removal or repair are subject to removal, the Administrative Official or his designee may
order removal of the sign in question. After removal, a notice shall be mailed to the sign
owner stating the nature of the work and the date on which it was performed and
demanding payment of the costs as certified by the Administrative Official or his designee.
Alleged violators shall have sixty (60) days from the date of said notice in which to appeal to
the Planning Commission. If the amount specified in the notice is not paid within sixty (60)
days of the notice and no appeal to the Planning Commission has been formally lodged, it
shall become an assessment upon a lien against the property of the sign owner, and will be
certified as an assessment against the property together with a ten percent (10%) penalty
for collection in the same manner as the real estate taxes

B. The owner of the property upon which the sign is located shall be presumed to be the
owner of all signs thereon unless documented facts to the contrary are brought to the
attention of the Administrative Official or his designee, as in the case of a leased sign. For
purposes of removal, the definition of sign shall include all embellishments and structures
designed specifically to support the sign.

C. Removed signs shall be stored at a location designated by the sign Administrative Official or
his designee pending return to the owner(s). Signs will be stored in such a manner as to
minimize damage to them. The sign Administrative Official or his designee will notify the
owner of all removal costs and the procedures for retrieving the removed sign(s).

D. Temporary signs located within the street right- of-way will be removed without notice and
stored for 30 days pending return to owners.

6.06 - Penalties
A. A violation of this Article shall be deemed a violation and shall be punishable by fine. Fines

for a violation shall not be less than fifty dollars ($50) and no more than two hundred dollars
($200) per day the violation continues.

B. If a second offense occurs within twelve (12) months of the prior offense, the fine shall be
no less than one hundred dollars ($100) per day the violation continues.

C. If a third offense and any subsequent offenses occur within twelve (12) months of the
second offense, the fine shall be no less two hundred dollars ($200) per day the violation
continues.

VII. Section Seven: Conflict, Severability and Effective Date
7.01 - Conflict  - If any portion of this code is found to be in conflict with any other provisions of any

zoning, building, fire, safety, or health ordinance of the City code, the provision which
establishes the stricter standard shall prevail.

7.02 - Severability  - If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this code or its
application to any person or circumstance is held invalid by the decision of any court of
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this code, or the application of the provision
to other persons or circumstances is in effect and shall remain in full force and effect.

7.03 - Effective Date - This Code shall take effect and be in force upon the passage of this Ordinance.

18



VIII. Section Eight: Definitions

Certain terms are defined for the purposes of this Ordinance as follows:

A-Frame Sign (a.k.a Sandwich Board Sign or Sidewalk Sign) - A freestanding sign that is ordinarily in
the shape of an "A" or some variation thereof, which is readily moveable and is not permanently
attached to the ground or any structure.

Administrative Official - The person or person(s) designated, in writing, to administer and enforce this
Ordinance by the Mayor of the City of Bryant. Where no such designation exists in writing, the Planning
and Development Director and their assigns shall be responsible for administration of this Ordinance.

Applicant - Any person, firm, group, organization, or corporation applying for permits or other
approvals required by this Ordinance.

Awning - A shelter projecting from and supported by the exterior wall of a building constructed of
non-rigid materials on a supporting framework.

Awning Sign - A sign painted on, printed on, or attached flat against the surface of an awning in a
permanent manner. Banners attached to awnings are not defined as awning signs.

Banner - A type of temporary sign on cloth, canvas, fabric, vinyl, or other flexible material which
projects from or hangs from a building, pole or wire. Banners include flags, cable-hung banners and
vertical banners. Depending upon its method of attachment, a banner is a flat-mounted wall sign,
projecting sign, or free-standing sign.

Billboard - A permanent sign in a fixed location which meets any one or more of the following criteria:

1. It is used for the display of off-premise commercial messages;

2. The message display area, or any part thereof, is made available to message sponsors

other than the owner(s) or operator(s) of the sign, typically for a fee or other

consideration, i.e., it is general advertising for hire;

3. The sign is a principal use of the land, rather than appurtenant or accessory to some
other principal use of the land;

4. The sign is subject to rules and regulations concerning outdoor advertising which are

promulgated as a result of Minute Order 72-6 of the Arkansas State Highway

Commission, a subsequent amendment of those rules and regulations, or other state

regulation governing outdoor advertising;

5. The sign has a sign area greater than four hundred (400) square feet in size.

Blade Sign - see “Projecting Sign”

Building - As defined by the Zoning Code.

Canopy (Building) - A rigid multi sided structure covered with fabric, metal or other material and
supported by a building at one or more points or extremities and by columns or posts embedded in the
ground at other points or extremities.  May be illuminated by means of internal or external sources.
(compare "Marquee").

19



Canopy (Freestanding) - A rigid multi sided structure covered with fabric, metal or other material and
supported by columns or posts embedded in the ground.  May be illuminated by means of internal or
external sources.

Canopy Sign - A sign affixed or applied to the exterior facing surface or surfaces of a building canopy or
freestanding canopy. Banners attached to canopies are not defined as canopy signs.

Changeable Copy Sign - A sign on which the sign content can be changed or altered by manual, electric,
electromechanical, or electronic means. Changeable copy signs include the following types:

1. Manual Changeable Copy Sign: Signs whose alphabetic, pictographic, or symbolic sign

content can be changed or altered by manual means.

2. Electrical Changeable Copy Sign: Signs whose alphabetic, pictographic, or symbolic sign

content can be changed or altered on a fixed display surface composed of electrically

illuminated or mechanically driven changeable segments, including electronic message

boards.

City - Unless the context clearly discloses a contrary intent, the word "City" shall mean the City of
Bryant.

Clearance (of a sign) - The smallest vertical distance between the grade of the adjacent sidewalk,
pathway, street, highway, street curb, or vehicular/pedestrian passageway and the lowest point of any
sign, including framework and embellishments, extending over that grade.

Clear View Zone - An area where placement of signs presents a hazard by obstructing the vision of
pedestrian and vehicular traffic at street intersections, publicly accessible fire apparatus roads,
driveways, or alleys. Such zones are determined from measuring the point of intersection of lines that
extend along the edge of pavement between the aforementioned types of intersections.

Commercial Message or Speech - Any sign wording, logo, design, pictorial image, or other
representation that, directly or indirectly, names, advertises, or calls attention to a business,
commercial product, accommodation, service, or other commercial activity.

Copy - The graphic content of a sign surface in either permanent or removable letter, pictographic,
symbolic, or alphabetic form.

Electronic Message Center - A sign that uses changing light (including LEDs) to form a message,
pictures, symbols, or logos in a display controlled by electronic means.

Elevation - The entire side or front of a building including the parapet.  Utilized in determining the
permissible sign area.

Façade - The entire building front including the parapet.

Fire Apparatus Road - A road, whether public or private, from a building or development obtains access
to a public right-of-way and which is at least twenty (20) feet in width.

Freestanding Sign - A sign supported permanently upon the ground by poles, braces, base, or similar
support structure and not attached to any building. This sign type is inclusive of other sign types
meeting this definition.

20



Frontage - The length of the property line of any one premise along a public right-of-way or publicly
accessible fire apparatus road on which it borders.

Frontage, Building - The length of an outside building wall facing a frontage.

Government Sign - Any temporary or permanent sign erected and maintained by the city, county, state,
or federal government for traffic direction or for designation of or direction to any school, hospital,
historical site, or public service, property, or facility.

Ground-mounted Sign - A freestanding sign mounted directly to the ground supported by a structural
base separate from the sign cabinet and with no poles visible between the sign and the ground.

Illegal Sign - A sign which does not meet the requirements of this code, was not legally permitted, or
which does not have legal nonconforming status.

Illuminated Sign - A sign with an artificial light source incorporated internally or externally for the
purpose of illuminating the sign.

Incidental Sign - A permanent sign, not exceeding four (4) square feet in size, giving information or
direction for the convenience and necessity of the public such as “entrance”, “exit”, “no admittance”,
“telephone”, “parking”, etc.

Maintenance - Cleaning, painting, or minor repair of defective parts of a sign in a manner that does not
alter the design, or structure of the sign.

Mansard - A sloped roof or roof-like facade architecturally comparable to a building wall.

Monument Sign - A freestanding sign mounted directly to the ground supported by a structural base
separate from the sign cabinet and with no poles visible between the sign and the ground.

Noncommercial Message or Speech - Constitutionally protected speech or messages that addresses
topics of public concern or controversy such as, by way of example and not limitation: politics, religion,
philosophy, science, art, or social commentary. This definition shall be construed in light of relevant
court decisions.

Nonconforming Sign - A sign which was erected legally, but which does not comply with subsequently
enacted sign restrictions and regulations. Or, a sign which does not conform to the sign code
requirements, but for which a variance or similar approval has been issued.

Occupancy - The portion of a building or premises owned, leased, rented, or otherwise occupied for a
given use.

Off-Premise (sign) - A message or sign advertising commercial products, accommodations, services, or
activities not provided in or on the property or premises upon which the sign or message is located.
This definition does not include noncommercial messages.

On-Premise (sign) - A message or sign that advertises the commercial business, establishment,
accommodation, services, or activities provided on the premises on which the sign is located, or is
expected to be provided in the near future. In the case of developments subject to an alternative
signage plan or which are designated as a regional scale development, all establishments subject to the

21



plan or in the development are considered on-premise when located inside the development or area of
the approved plan. This definition does not include noncommercial messages.

Owner - A person recorded as such on official records. For the purposes of this Ordinance, the owner
of property on which a sign is located is presumed to be the owner of the sign unless facts to the
contrary are officially recorded or otherwise brought to the attention of the Administrative Official,
e.g., a sign leased from a sign company.

Parapet - The extension of a false front or wall above a roofline.

Person - Any individual, corporation, association, firm, partnership, or similarly defined interest.

Pole Cover - Cover enclosing or decorating poles or other structural supports of a sign.

Pole Sign - See freestanding sign.

Portable Sign - Any sign designed to be moved easily and not permanently affixed to the ground or to a
structure or building. Permanently affixed shall mean anchored to the ground as stipulated in Section
2303 Construction of the 1991 Edition of the Standard Building Code.

Post and Arm Sign - A sign with a height of four (4) feet or less and two (2) square feet or less in area
supported by an upright post with a horizontal arm, from which a sign is suspended. No part of the
structural support may be greater than six (6) inches in any dimension.

Projecting Sign - A sign, other than a flat wall sign, which is attached to and projects from a building
wall or other structure not specifically designed to support the sign. Typically projecting from the
facade of a building and perpendicular to the pedestrian or vehicular right of way.

Premises - A parcel of land with its appurtenances and building which, because of its unity of use, may
be regarded as the smallest conveyable unit of real estate.

Pylon Sign - See “pole sign”.

Roof Sign - A sign which is attached to a roof or to a structure located on a roof, exclusive of a mansard.

Roofline - The top edge of a roof or building parapet, whichever is higher, excluding any mansards,
cupolas, pylons, chimneys, or minor projections.

Rotating Sign - See "Animated Sign, Mechanically Energized"

Sign - Any object, device, display, or structure or part thereof situated outdoors or adjacent to the
interior of a window or doorway, which is used to advertise, identify, display, direct, or attract attention
to an object, person, institution, organization, business, product, service, event, or location by any
means including words, letters, pictures, logos, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, illumination,
or projected images.

Sign Face - The area of a sign on which the copy is placed. This does not include the mounting
structure. Sign face does not include an electronic message board or panel.

Sign Relocation - The movement of the sign to a new or changed location and includes without
limitation any movement of the sign to a new location on the same structure, on the same parcel or
elsewhere. Any movement of a sign, no matter how slight, is a relocation.

22



Structure - Any mechanical component to which the actual advertising face is attached. Including the
pole.

Temporary Sign - A sign not constructed or intended for long-term use or which is portable is
considered a temporary sign. This definition includes any sign not permanently embedded in the
ground, or not permanently affixed to a building or sign structure that is permanently embedded in the
ground. This includes banners, etc.

Under Canopy Sign - A sign fastened under a canopy structure and mounted perpendicular to the face
of the building from which the canopy projects.

Vertical Banner - A banner hung or projecting from a banner pole in the public right-of way designated
for civic use.

23



Community Development Department
Email: comdev@cityofbryant.com

Phone: 501-943-0488

mailto:comdev@cityofbryant.com


Table of Contents:
__________________________________________________________

Section One: Purpose and Scope Page 2
1.01 – Intent, Scope, and Applicability
1.02 - Purpose
1.03 - Authority

Section Two: General Provisions Page 3
2.01 - General
2.02 – Signs Prohibited
2.03 – Permit Requirement and Application
2.04 – Signs Not Requiring Permits

Section Three: Policies, Rules of Interpretation, and Standards Page 6
3.01 – Message Neutrality
3.02 – On-Premise/Off-Premise Distinction
3.03 – Sign Area Measurement
3.04 - Height
3.05 – Setback Requirements
3.06 – Lighting
3.07 – Changeable Copy
3.08 – Sign Projections from Buildings
3.09 – Sign Similarity to Official Signs
3.10 – Obstruction of Vision
3.11 – Interference with Utilities
3.12 – Maintenance Standards
3.13 – Abandonment

Section Four: Specific Requirements by Sign Type and Zoning District Page 9
4.01 – Signs Allowed in PUDs or Other Special Districts
4.02 –  Aesthetic Corridors and Interstate Sign Zone
4.03 – Temporary Sign Table
4.04 – Sign Table
4.05 –  Signs in Airport Industrial District

Section Five: Non-Conforming Signs Page 14
5.01 – Determination of Legal Nonconformity
5.02 – Loss of Legal Nonconforming Status

Section Six: Administration and Enforcement Page 15
6.01 – Administrative Official
6.02 - Variances
6.03 – Alternative Signage Plans
6.04 - Violations
6.05 – Removal of Signs by the Administrative Official
6.06 - Penalties

Section Seven: Conflict, Severability and Effective Date Page 17
7.01 - Conflict
7.02 - Severability
7.03 - Effective Date

Section Eight: Definitions Page 18

Highlighted Sections Key

Green - From Current Code
Yellow -Existing in Current Code But Rewritten or Expanded On

Orange - New Material

2



I. Section One: Purpose and Scope

1.01 – Intent, Scope, and Applicability
The scope of this Ordinance shall be to regulate signs intended to be viewed from any vehicular
or pedestrian public right-of-way or public/private fire apparatus road. These regulations are
intended to regulate signs in a manner that balances the right of free speech through sign
display against the competing public and governmental interests in community aesthetics,
safety, prevention of sign clutter and visual pollution, and other negative effects associated with
excessive and/or improper signage.

These regulations shall be supplemented by additional ordinances and regulations established
by the City of Bryant including the: Heart of Bryant Area Development Code and any other
applicable ordinances as may be established. In the event of a conflict between these
regulations and others, the most stringent regulations shall apply.

1.02 - Purpose
Signs are an important and necessary means of communication. When properly regulated, signs
can serve as a great economic and aesthetic asset. This Article provides standards for the
installation and maintenance of signs. All signs shall be installed and maintained in accordance
with this Article, as applicable. The general purpose of these standards is to promote, preserve,
and protect the health, safety, general welfare, convenience, and enjoyment of the public as
well as to prevent the degradation of the aesthetic quality of Bryant, and to achieve the
following:

A. Safety
To promote the safety of persons and property by providing that signs:

1. Do not create a hazard due to collapse, fire, collision, decay, abandonment, or other
safety considerations;

2. Do not obstruct firefighting, police, and private security surveillance;
3. Do not create traffic hazards by confusing or distracting motorists;
4. Do not impair the motorist’s ability to see pedestrians, obstacles, other vehicles, or to

read traffic signs and signals;
5. Do not cause hazardous or unsafe driving conditions for motorists due to their lighting or

visual motion; and,
6. Do not otherwise interfere with or detract from the safety of persons or property.

B. Communications Efficiency
To promote the efficient transfer of information in sign messages providing that:

1. Customers and other persons may identify and locate a business, establishment, or
service;

2. No person or group is arbitrarily denied the use of the sight lines from the public
right-of-way for communication purposes; and,

3. The messages in signs may otherwise be communicated efficiently.

3



C. Landscape Quality and Preservation
To protect the public welfare and to enhance the appearance and economy of the city, by
providing signs that:

1. Do not unreasonably interfere with scenic views;
2. Do not create a nuisance to persons using the public rights-of-way;
3. Do not constitute a nuisance to occupancy of adjacent property by their brightness, light

glare and reflection, size, height, movement, or visual movement;
4. Are not detrimental to land or property values;
5. Do not overwhelm people by the number of messages presented, and do not interfere

with the exercise of freedom of choice to observe or ignore said messages, according to
the observer’s purpose;

6. Do not create or worsen visual clutter or visual blight;
7. Do not cover or blanket any prominent view of a structure or façade of historical or

architectural significance;
8. Do not obstruct views of users of adjacent buildings to side yards, front yards, or to open

space;
9. Are compatible with the fabric of existing neighborhoods and do not impose a foreign or

inharmonious element to an existing skyline;
10. Contribute to the special character of particular areas or districts within the city, helping

the observer to understand the city and be oriented within it;
11. Protect and preserve a quality landscape in the city; and
12. Otherwise enhance the appearance and economy of the city.

1.03 - Authority
This Ordinance is adopted under the authority conferred on the City of Bryant by the General
Assembly of the State of Arkansas by the A.C.A. § 14-56-401 through § 14-56-426.

II. Section Two: General Provisions

2.01 - General
It shall be illegal for a person or entity to install, place, modify, move, or maintain a sign within
the City of Bryant except in accordance with the regulations of this Ordinance. These
regulations establish the minimum standards for the installation, construction, and
maintenance of signage. The number and area of signs as outlined in these regulations are
intended to be maximum standards. These regulations shall not apply to any signage which is
not directly viewable from a public street, alley, trail, or publicly accessible fire-apparatus road.
Signs shall only be permitted upon lots/parcels or buildings which are not vacant and occupied
by a conforming or nonconforming primary use.

2.02 - Signs Prohibited - The following types of signs are prohibited in all districts:

A. Abandoned signs.
B. Signs imitating or resembling official traffic or government signs or signals.
C. Signs imitating warning signals.

4



D. Signs within Right-of-Way. No sign whatsoever, whether temporary or permanent, except
erected by an official governmental agency is permitted within any street or highway right-
of-way or City of Bryant public easement.

E. No signs may be painted on or attached to trees, rocks, or other natural formations, fence
posts, utility poles, public benches, streetlights, or building roofs.

F. Portable signs. A portable sign is any sign designed to be moved easily and not permanently
affixed to the ground or to a structure or building.

G. Off-premise/off-site signs, except as permitted by Bryant Billboard Ordinance No. 2006-42.
H. Signs that are mounted, attached, or painted on trailers, boats or vehicles when parked to

be used as additional signage on or near a business premises; and similar signs.
1. No vehicle or trailer with advertising message mounted or painted thereon may be

parked continuously for more than fifteen (15) consecutive calendar days in any zoning
district, so that it becomes an advertising sign.

2. Exception - Such vehicles or trailers parked on active construction sites or within a
commercial zoning district with an approved temporary business permit for the vehicle
or trailer are exempt from this regulation.

2.03 – Permit Requirement and Application
Except where explicitly exempted from permitting requirements by this Ordinance, no sign may
be erected, transferred, rebuilt, changed, or structurally altered unless a permit has been issued
by the Administrative Official or his/her designee. Addition or modification of illumination of
any existing sign which changes the form or intensity of the sign’s lighting shall require a sign
permit.

Maintenance of existing signs, including change of copy, painting of support structures, and
same for the same exchange of lighting elements shall not require a sign permit. Sign design
changes or structural alteration of a sign or sign support structure shall not be considered
maintenance.

A. Applications
Application for a sign permit shall be made by means provided by the City of Bryant and
shall contain at least the following:

1. Applicant Information. Name and address of the applicant and/or contractor.
2. Location Information. Street address and/or location of the property where the signage

will be located.
3. Property Owner/Authorized Agent. Name and address of the property owner of the sign

location along with proof the applicant is an authorized agent of the property owner, if
the applicant is not the property owner.

4. Scaled Site Plan.  A scaled site plan showing the location(s) of the signage on the
property or building and showing street right-of-way, property lines, and easements as
well as relationship to major site features such as buildings, parking, etc. For wall signs,
provide dimension of walls and all walls signs (including windows) on the affected
building elevation(s).

5. Scaled Sign Drawing. A scaled drawing(s) of the signage showing the design and
including dimensions of the sign height, area, design, content, and dimensions of the
sign as well as the design and dimensions of any measures used to support the sign or
used to affix the sign to a wall, window or the ground.

5



6. Materials List and Illumination Design. Indication of materials used for the signage along
with details/design on how the sign will be illuminated.

7. Sign Calculations. Computation of the total sign area, the area of each individual sign,
the height of each sign, and the total number and size of existing and proposed signs on
the site or structure.

8. Structural Plans. Structural design plans developed by a licensed professional engineer
shall be required for any sign with a support structure exceeding twenty (20) feet tall.

9. Other Information. Other information as required by the Administrative Official or
his/her designee that is reasonably necessary to demonstrate compliance with these
regulations.

B. Application Approval and Issuance
The Administrative Official or his/her designee shall be charged with review of all sign
permit applications based upon provisions of this Ordinance and other applicable
regulations. Review shall be completed within thirty (30) days from receipt of the completed
application, including all fees. A decision must be rendered to approve, deny, or provide
notice of deficiencies in the application by the end of this thirty (30) day review period. A
notice of deficiencies in the application will be provided in writing to the applicant.  Any
application which is amended or corrected within sixty (60) days of receipt of a notice of
deficiencies in the application shall not be charged an additional sign review fee. An
application shall only be approved when full compliance of the application with these
regulations is demonstrated. False statements or misrepresentations of facts in the
application may constitute grounds for denial of an application. For any application which is
denied, a written explanation of denial will be provided to the applicant upon request.

C. Fee
Fees shall be submitted and paid prior to review of the application. All fees are
non-refundable. The fee shall be set in accordance with a schedule of fees adopted by the
City Council. If no schedule of fees is adopted, following adoption of these regulations, the
fee shall be fifty dollars ($50) per sign. Unpermitted work completed prior to approval of a
sign permit shall be assessed a one-hundred fifty-dollar ($150) fee payable prior to issuance
of a sign permit for any subsequent work. All fees shall be in addition to any applicable state
trade fees.

D. Inspection and Expiration
The person or contractor completing the work covered under the permit shall notify the
Administrative Official or his/her designee after completion of work. A final inspection, in
addition to any footing or electrical inspections, shall be required to confirm compliance
with the terms of the sign permit. All work covered under a sign permit shall be completed
within twelve (12) months of the date of issuance of the permit, or the permit shall become
void and null. The Administrative Official may revoke any permit or order any sign removed
upon notice and for cause as set out in this Ordinance.

6



2.04 - Signs Not Requiring Permits - The following types of signs are exempt from the permit
requirements but must be in conformance with all other requirements of the ordinance:

A. Temporary Signs.
B. Signs less than two (2) square feet in size that are non-illuminated and attached to a building

or structure or supported by a post and arm structure, limited to one (1) per building.
C. Governmental signs and official public signs, including but not limited to, wayfinding signs,

public notice signs, required postings by state/federal/local law, safety signs, danger signs,
or traffic signs.

D. Window signs.
E. Incidental signs less than Six (6) square feet in size.
F. Markers located at historic sites which are recognized by local, state, or federal authorities.
G. A-Frame signs. Cannot block sidewalks.
H. Signs created by landscaping and comprised only of vegetation.
I. Handheld signs displaying protected noncommercial messages.

III. Section Three: Policies, Rules of Interpretation, and Standards

3.01 – Message Neutrality - This Ordinance is not intended to regulate signs in a manner that favors
commercial speech over noncommercial speech. A noncommercial message may, in whole or in part,
substitute a commercial message on any sign, provided all requirements of this Ordinance and other
applicable regulations are met. This Ordinance is not intended in any way to regulate the message or
content of any form of temporary signage.

3.02 – On-Premise/Off-Premise Distinction - The distinction between on-premise and off-premise
signage applies only to permanent signage with a commercial message. It does not apply to
noncommercial messages or temporary signs.

3.03 – Sign Area Measurement - When
calculating the surface area of any sign, a
maximum of three (3) distinct and abutting
"Areas" made up of squares or rectangles may
be used to encompass the extreme limits of
the writing, representation, emblem, or other
display, together with any material or color
forming an integral part of the background of
the display or used to differentiate the sign from the backdrop or
structure against which it is placed. The minimum size for an
“Area” is one square foot. Calculations shall be based upon
measuring the largest sign face. No more than two (2) sign faces
shall be permitted. Calculations shall not include the pole support
structure for signs exceeding ten (10) feet in height. For
freestanding signs, only one side  or sign face shall be used to
determine the area.

7



3.04 – Height - When determining height, the average established ground level beneath the sign shall
be used for measurement. Where the elevation of a street curb or sidewalk is higher than the average
established ground level, height shall be measured from the elevation of the street curb or sidewalk.
Any berm or fill greater than one (1) foot tall placed at the base of the sign shall not be considered the
average established ground level.

3.05 - Setback Requirements
A. No Sign shall be erected or maintained except in conformity with the following setback

requirements:
1. Front: Signs shall be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from back of curb, edge of

roadway surface, or street right- of-way, whichever is greater.
2. Side: All signs shall be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from the nearest side

property line
B. Exceptions: The above setback requirements shall not apply to those signs mounted on

building walls lawfully sited within the setback space, when such signs otherwise conform to
the provisions of this ordinance.

C. No sign shall block sidewalk, multi-use trail, or pedestrian pathway.

3.06 - Lighting
A. Unless otherwise prohibited by this Ordinance, all signs may be illuminated. No illuminated sign

shall be permitted within which faces the front, side, or rear lot lines of any residential lot
regardless of zoning district and is located within fifty (50) feet thereof.

B. Every part of the light source of any illuminated sign shall be concealed from view from
vehicular traffic in the public right-of-way or adjacent property. The light shall not travel from
the light source directly to vehicular traffic in the public right-of-way or adjacent property, but
instead shall be visible only from a reflecting or diffusing surface.

C. This provision shall not apply to neon tube lighting or electronic message centers operating in
accordance with this Ordinance.

D. Backlit Illuminated Awnings- Unless expressly provided otherwise in this Ordinance, awning
signs may be illuminated, including without limitation by backlighting.

3.07 - Changeable Copy - Unless otherwise specified by this Ordinance, any sign herein allowed may
use manual changeable copy or electronic message centers as follows:

A. Electronic message centers in C-2 and C-3 Commercial Zoning Districts may display animation so
long as flashing is not utilized.

B. Electronic message centers are not allowed in any residential zoning district.
C. All electronic message centers must be equipped with automatic dimming technology which

automatically adjusts the sign's brightness in direct correlation with natural ambient light
conditions.

D. The light emitted by an electronic changeable copy sign shall not exceed a brightness level of
0.3-foot candles above ambient levels as measured by a foot-candle meter at the distance and
using the method described below.

1. The reading shall be taken with the meter aimed directly at the digital sign at a distance
of 150 ft or neighboring property line, whichever is less.

2. Measurements of ambient light and sign output may be taken at any time. Nighttime
measurements shall be taken no less than 30-minutes past sunset and no more than
30-minutes prior to sunrise.

8



3. Ambient light shall be determined using a foot-candle meter at the appropriate distance
as indicated in this Section while the electronic changeable copy sign is off or displaying
all black copy. Increased ambient light caused by the electronic changeable copy sign
shall be determined by using the same meter at the same location after causing the
electronic changeable copy sign to show full white copy. If the difference in the two (2)
readings is greater than 0.3-foot candles, then the light emitted by the electronic
changeable copy sign exceeds the level authorized by this Section.

3.08 - Sign Projections from Buildings - Signs attached to and wholly supported by a building shall not
project more than eight (8) feet from any building and the bottom of such sign shall not be less than
ten (10) feet above the sidewalk or fourteen (14) feet above a vehicular right of way and shall not
project into the public right- of-way.

3.09 - Sign Similarity to Official Signs - No sign may be placed or designed so as to simulate or interfere
with traffic control devices or official highway signs.

3.10 - Obstruction of Vision - No sign or sign landscaping may be installed in a manner to obstruct
vision of pedestrian and vehicular traffic at street intersections, driveways, alleys, or publicly accessible
fire apparatus roads.

No sign or sign landscaping in excess of two (2) feet in height may be installed in a clear view zone.
Clear view zones areas are measured from the point of intersection of lines that extend along the edge
of pavement at intersections between streets or publicly accessible fire apparatus roads and another
street, another publicly accessible fire apparatus road, driveway, or alley. See clear view zone figure.

The measurements for clear view zones shall be as follows:

A. Street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road to
street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road
intersections:
Thirty (30) feet.

B. Driveway/alley and
street/publicly
accessible fire
apparatus road:
Twenty (20) feet.

9



3.11 - Interference with Utilities - No part of any sign shall be located within or over the designated
safety zone of any City of Bryant water, sewer, and drainage easement.

3.12 – Maintenance Standards - Every sign, including those specifically exempt from this ordinance in
respect to permits and permit fees, and all parts, portions, and materials shall meet these maintenance
standards.

A. All sign(s)/sign support structures and premises surrounding the same shall be maintained
in a clean, sanitary condition free and clear of all rubbish and weeds.

B. All sign(s)/sign support structures shall be kept in compliance with all building and electrical
codes, in conformance with the requirements of this Ordinance.

C. All sign(s)/sign support structures shall be kept free of deterioration, breakage, termite
damage, rot, corrosion, rust, or loosening.  All paint and materials shall be kept free of
cracking, peeling, or fading.

3.13 – Abandonment - Abandoned signs shall be required to be removed. For signs which are legally
permitted and conforming, removal shall consist of removal of any sign message. Signs which are
legally nonconforming or otherwise nonconforming, removal shall consist of total removal of the sign
including all sign support structures.

Excluding billboards, a sign shall be considered abandoned when the building or lot/parcel upon which
the sign is located is no longer occupied and vacant or actively being marketed for sale or lease for a
period of more than ninety (90) consecutive days.

IV. Section Four: Specific Requirements by Sign Type and Zoning District

4.01 – Signs Allowed in Planned Unit Developments or Other Special Districts - Sign requirements for
districts not covered by these regulations including Planned Unit Developments (PUDs) and other forms
of special zoning shall be established by the document or regulations created for the development or
district. If not established for the development or in the regulations pertaining to the special district, an
applicant may petition for the development or district to be treated similarly to one or more of the
districts contained in this Ordinance. The Administrative Official shall make a written determination
pertaining to the request based on the similarity of the development or district(s) to one or more of the
districts in this Ordinance. If the Administrative Official denies the petition, the applicant may request
an appeal of a decision of the Administrative Official.

4.02 – Aesthetic Corridors and Interstate Sign Zone
A. Aesthetic Corridors

Freestanding or pole signs that are constructed, removed, destroyed or replaced shall be
replaced only with a monument or ground-mounted sign when the building or parcel/lot is
located with lot frontage and/or obtains access via driveway or publicly accessible fire
apparatus road along the roadways listed below. Such signs shall meet all other regulations.

1. Springhill Road
2. Hilldale Road
3. Bryant Parkway
4. Woodland Park

10



5. Springhill Overpass to Woodland Park
6. Prickett Road from Woodland Park to Reynolds Road
7. Prickett Road
8. Boone Road
9. Reynolds Road from Mills Park Road, South to City Limits line.
10. Mt. Carmel Road
11. Brandon Road

B. Interstate Sign Zone
1. Freestanding or pole signs must be located in C-3 zoning and be 100 feet from the

residentially zoned property.
2. Freestanding or pole signs within five hundred (500) feet of the centerline of the median

of Interstate 30 shall not exceed seventy-five (75) feet in height and two hundred (200)
square feet in size.

3. Freestanding or pole signs within seven hundred fifty (750) feet of the centerline of the
median of Interstate 30 shall not exceed fifty (50) feet in height and one hundred fifty
(150) square feet in size

11



4.03 - Temporary Sign Table

Sign Type/Form Limitations (Where Permitted)
Residential Zoning

Districts - R-1, R-1.S,
R-2, R-E, R-M

Residential
Zoning District -
Non-Residential

Use

Commercial
O-1

Commercial
C-1

Commercial
C-2

Commercial
C-3

Construction Signs When a building or parcel/lot is under
construction or renovation

P
Max. 2 per Building or

Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 48 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

P
Max. 4 per Building

or Parcel/Lot,
Max. area: 64 sq. ft.

each

Real-Estate Signs
Number Allowed: 1 per frontage

and/or
1 per tenant lease space

P
1 additional sign

allowed for no more
than 36 hours when

the property is open to
the public.

6 sq. ft. Max. area,
Max Height: 6ft

P P P P P

Temporary Signs During
Election

Display Time Duration:
70 calendar days prior or 7 days following

any federal, state, or local election
authorized by the Saline County Election

Commission and held in the City of Bryant.

P P P P P P

Garage, Yard, or Estate Sale
Signs

Number Allowed: 1 per frontage.
Installation: Ground mounted on a stake or

wire frame.
Max. Size and Height: 6 sq. ft. and 4 ft. tall.

Time Duration: No more than 48 hours.

P P P P P P

A-frame Signs
Number Allowed: 1 per building.

Max. Size and Height: 6 sq. ft. and 3ft. tall.
Must maintain a 5 ft. clearance for

pedestrians.

X P P P P P

General Temporary Signs

Number Allowed: 1 per building or
parcel/lot.

Max. Size and Height: 32 sq. ft. and 6 ft.
tall.

Signs such as banners, pennants, and
posters are considered temporary signs.

Time Duration: 7 Days.

X P P P P P

12



4.04 - Residential Zoning Sign Table

Sign Type Form Limitations (Where Permitted)
R- 1, R-1.S, R-2, R-E, R-M Zoning Non-Residential Use in Residential Zoning

District

Address Sign P P

Free Standing Signs
Monument/

Ground-
mounted Signs

Max.1 freestanding sign per
Frontage.

P
Max. 1 sign per frontage external to
the subdivisions or neighborhood;

Max. size 48 sq. ft., Max. height 6 ft.;
Setback: May be placed at the property line,

provided it does not extend into the clear view zone
or easement.

P
Max. 1 sign; Max. Size;  48 sq. ft.; max height 6 ft.;

Setback: May be placed at the property line,
provided it does not extend into the clear view zone

or easement.

Pole Signs X X

Changeable Copy
(Electronic Message

Centers)
X X

Shopping Center
Directory Signs X X

Wall- Attached Signs Facade Signs * X P

Awning Signs * X P

Canopy Signs * X P

Window Signs * X P

Projecting Signs (Blade
Signs)

*
1 per occupancy; May not project
more than 8 ft. from the side of the

building; Clearance:10 ft. above
sidewalk grade and 14 ft. vehicular

way grade.

X P

Incidental Sign

Number Allowed: No limit,
provided area requirements are
met. Max. size: 6 sq. ft. per sign,

24 sq. ft. per occupancy.

P P

★ Number allowed: No Limit unless otherwise noted, provided area requirements are met. (Area includes wall signs, awning signs, under canopy signs, canopy signs, projecting signs, and window
signs). Other: Allowed on each building elevation for primary/principal buildings;  Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear ft of building frontage on elevation where the sign is installed. Maximum total area
per occupancy 32 sq. ft.

13



4.05 - Commercial Zoning Sign Table

Sign Type Form Limitations (Where Permitted) O-1 Zoning(150 Sq. Ft.
Max) C-1 Zoning(200 Sq. Ft. Max) C-2 Zoning(300 Sq. Ft. Max) C-3 Zoning(350 Sq. Ft. Max)

Address
Sign

P P P P

Free
Standing

Signs

Monument/
Ground-

mounted Signs

Max.1 freestanding sign per roadway frontage P
Max. size: 64 Sq. Ft.

Max. height: 8 Ft.

P
Max. size: 64 Sq. Ft.

Max. height: 8 Ft.

P
Max. size: 80 Sq. Ft.
Max. height: 10 Ft.

P
Max. size: 96 Sq. Ft.
Max. height: 12 Ft.

Pole Signs X X
P

Max. 100 sq. ft. each and
25 ft. tall.

P
Max. 120 sq. ft. each and

30 ft. tall.

Changeable
Copy (Electronic

Message
Centers)

See Section 3.07 X X

P
Max. 40% of the sign area
or 48 sq. ft., whichever is

less.

P
Max. 40% of the sign area
or 64 sq. ft., whichever is

less.

Shopping Center
Directory Signs X

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

P
Max. 1 per Coordinated

Shopping Center or
Cul-de-sac Max Height 35 ft.

Wall-
Attached

Signs
Facade Signs *

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Awning Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Canopy Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Window Signs *
P

Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Projecting Signs
(Blade Signs)

*
1 per occupancy; Max. projection 8ft from
building; Clearance:10 ft. above sidewalk

grade, 14 ft. vehicular way grade.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 1 sq. per 1 linear

ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

P
Max Area: 2 sq. per 1
linear ft of frontage.

Incidental
Sign

No max. limit, provided area req. are met.
Max. size: 6 SF per sign, 24 SF per

occupancy.
P P P P

★ Number allowed: No Limit unless otherwise noted, provided area requirements are met. (Area includes wall signs, awning signs, under canopy signs, canopy signs, projecting signs, and window
signs). Other: Allowed on each building elevation for primary/principal buildings; Area: Max Area based on linear ft. of building frontage on elevation where the sign is installed.

14



A. The Specific surface area of commercial signs displaying gasoline prices only shall be exempt

from calculations of the total aggregate surface area.

B. Internal businesses and brands contained within a host business are allowed exterior

signage. The sign area utilized by the internal business/brand shall be deducted from the

sign area allowed for the host business sign area.

C. In the case of a corner lot fronting on two public streets, a business will be allowed to add

an additional 100 square feet to the total maximum aggregate surface area of the permitted

signs. To be used only for signs on one of the street frontages.

D. No single sign may utilize more than 50% of the total maximum aggregate surface footage

allowed. With the exception of the interstate sign zone.

4.06 - Signs in the Airport Industrial District

Signs in the Airport Industrial District are governed by the regulations established specifically for
that district.

V. Section Five: Non-Conforming Signs

5.01 - Determination of Legal Nonconformity
A. A nonconforming sign is any permanent sign that was legally established and maintained in

compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws in effect at the time of original
installation but that does not comply with the provisions of this sign ordinance as of the
date this ordinance is adopted.

B. A nonconforming sign, as defined above, shall be allowed continued use, except that the
sign shall not be expanded, moved, or relocated, except in the case of street relocation. A
nonconforming sign shall be allowed continued use even if ownership of the property
changes.

5.02 - Loss of Legal Nonconforming Status - A legal nonconforming sign shall lose this
designation in the following instances:

A. When the sign is intentionally damaged or destroyed or fails to observe the following
restrictions in cases of unintentional damage or destruction:
1. If the sign face is unintentionally damaged or destroyed, the face may be replaced. The

sign face supporting structure may be temporarily placed on the ground in order to
replace the sign face or service the structure.

2. If the structural components of the sign including the face structure is damaged or
destroyed, the structure and face may be replaced with a new face and structure not to
exceed the size, height or location of the established nonconforming sign.

B. When the size of the sign is altered in any way, except toward compliance with this
ordinance, it will lose its legal nonconforming status. This does not refer to change of copy,
face of the sign, or normal maintenance. Normal maintenance does not include the
replacement of structural elements.

C. When the sign(s) advertising a building/development contains the majority of the
businesses/tenants and the building/development undergoes major redevelopment such as
demolition or expansion requiring a building permit.
Exceptions:
1. A remodel of an existing building will not cause the loss of legal non- conformity.

15



2. The construction of an additional building on the same property shall not cause the loss
of legal non- conformity.

D. When the sign is expanded, moved, or relocated, except in the case of street relocation.

VI. Section Six: Administration and Enforcement

6.01 – Administrative Official
A. All sign permits shall be issued by the Administrative Official or his/ her designee. The

Director of Community Development is the Administrative Official for the purposes of this
Ordinance.

B. The Administrative Official or his/ her designee is empowered, upon presentation of proper
credentials, to enter or inspect any building, structure, or premises in the City for the
purpose of inspection of a sign and its structural and electrical connections to ensure
compliance with all applicable codes and ordinances. Such inspections shall be carried out
during business hours unless an emergency exists.

6.02 - Variances
A. A variance for height, location, type, etc. may be requested. No area variance may be

requested.
B. Requests for sign variances shall be in writing and shall be submitted along with the sign

application. Such a request shall demonstrate that special conditions or circumstances exist
that are not applicable to other lands, structures, or buildings such that a literal
interpretation of the ordinance would result in an undue hardship.

C. The Board of Zoning Adjustment shall review the request to determine if the variance
should be granted and may grant or deny the request.

D. If the Board of Zoning Adjustment denies the variance or takes no action on the request
within 30 days following the variance request appearing on its agenda, the variance shall be
deemed denied. The applicant may then appeal the decision to the City Council. The appeal
must be submitted to the Planning Department no less than thirty( 30) working days from
the date of the Planning Commission's decision or the deemed denied date whichever may
apply. In order to be placed on the City Council agenda, the appeal must be submitted no
less than eleven ( 11) days prior to the City Council meeting. If the decision is appealed but it
is within the 11 days prior to the next City Council meeting, it shall be placed on the
following month's regularly scheduled City Council meeting agenda.

E. A variance may be granted only when the requirements noted above have been met. The
Board of Zoning Adjustment or City Council shall grant only the minimum variance required
to make possible the variance request, provided that such variance will be in harmony with
the general purpose and intent of the ordinance and will not be injurious to the
neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare.

F. Fees shall be submitted and paid prior to review of the application. All fees are
non-refundable. The fee shall be set in accordance with a schedule of fees adopted by the
City Council. If no schedule of fees is adopted, following adoption of these regulations, the
fee shall be two hundred fifty dollars ($250).

16



6.03 – Alternative Signage Plan
A. An alternative signage plan may be used where impractical situations would result from this

Ordinance. Alternative locations, size or quantity may be justified due to topography, utility
easements, lot configuration or subdivision (particularly with respect to a shopping center),
or location and size of pre-existing development. Also, the proposed use or collection of
uses may not be captured by the spirit and intent of this Ordinance, justifying an Alternative
Signage Plan. Such plans shall require the approval of the Planning Commission.

B. Application shall be made in the same manner as prescribed in §203. The application must
additionally include a written letter of justification for the request detailing how the
application meets the approval criteria. No application may be accepted without inclusion of
a letter of justification.

C. The fee for such applications shall be determined by a fee schedule adopted by the City
Council. If no fee schedule is adopted following passage of these regulations, the fee shall be
two hundred fifty dollars ($250).

D. At least one of the following conditions shall be met in order for an Alternative Signage Plan
to be considered for approval:

1. The applicant must show that installation of signage per this Ordinance while meeting
other site-specific constraints as listed above would put the site in direct violation of
other City Ordinances or State or Federal regulations, under any practical site layout
configuration.

2. The use(s) and/or architectural elements proposed for the site (as already approved by
the Planning Department) are such that a standard sign plan under this Article would be
considered not in keeping with the code and fail to meet the general purpose of the
code outlined in this Ordinance.

3. The sign is at least fifty (50) years old and can be determined to have important historic
significance by the Administrative Official as being a historically important place,
historically important business or entity, or embodying a design or features of historical
importance based upon generally accepted historic preservation professional practice
standards.

4. Approval of the Alternative Signage Plan would result in a preferable outcome to the
residents of Bryant in contrast to only advancing the property or economic interests of
the applicant.

6.04 - Violations
A. In cases of emergency, the Administrative Official or his/her designee may cause the

immediate removal of a dangerous or defective sign without notice. Signs removed in this
manner must present a hazard to the public safety as defined in the local building or traffic
codes.

B. In cases of illegal signs placed in the public right- of-way, or if banners or temporary signs
become faded, worn or tattered; or have become detached from the structure designed to
support the signage, the Administrative Official or his designee may cause immediate
removal of the sign without notification of the owner of the sign.

17



6.05 - Removal of Signs by the Administrative Official
A. Signs located within the public right-of-way or which fail to comply with the written orders

of removal or repair are subject to removal, the Administrative Official or his designee may
order removal of the sign in question. After removal, a notice shall be mailed to the sign
owner stating the nature of the work and the date on which it was performed and
demanding payment of the costs as certified by the Administrative Official or his designee.
Alleged violators shall have sixty (60) days from the date of said notice in which to appeal to
the Planning Commission. If the amount specified in the notice is not paid within sixty (60)
days of the notice and no appeal to the Planning Commission has been formally lodged, it
shall become an assessment upon a lien against the property of the sign owner, and will be
certified as an assessment against the property together with a ten percent (10%) penalty
for collection in the same manner as the real estate taxes

B. The owner of the property upon which the sign is located shall be presumed to be the
owner of all signs thereon unless documented facts to the contrary are brought to the
attention of the Administrative Official or his designee, as in the case of a leased sign. For
purposes of removal, the definition of sign shall include all embellishments and structures
designed specifically to support the sign.

C. Removed signs shall be stored at a location designated by the sign Administrative Official or
his designee pending return to the owner(s). Signs will be stored in such a manner as to
minimize damage to them. The sign Administrative Official or his designee will notify the
owner of all removal costs and the procedures for retrieving the removed sign(s).

D. Temporary signs located within the street right- of-way will be removed without notice and
stored for 30 days pending return to owners.

6.06 - Penalties
A. A violation of this Article shall be deemed a violation and shall be punishable by fine. Fines

for a violation shall not be less than fifty dollars ($50) and no more than two hundred dollars
($200) per day the violation continues.

B. If a second offense occurs within twelve (12) months of the prior offense, the fine shall be
no less than one hundred dollars ($100) per day the violation continues.

C. If a third offense and any subsequent offenses occur within twelve (12) months of the
second offense, the fine shall be no less two hundred dollars ($200) per day the violation
continues.

VII. Section Seven: Conflict, Severability and Effective Date
7.01 - Conflict  - If any portion of this code is found to be in conflict with any other provisions of any

zoning, building, fire, safety, or health ordinance of the City code, the provision which
establishes the stricter standard shall prevail.

7.02 - Severability  - If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this code or its
application to any person or circumstance is held invalid by the decision of any court of
competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this code, or the application of the provision
to other persons or circumstances is in effect and shall remain in full force and effect.

7.03 - Effective Date - This Code shall take effect and be in force upon the passage of this Ordinance.

18



VIII. Section Eight: Definitions

Certain terms are defined for the purposes of this Ordinance as follows:

A-Frame Sign (a.k.a Sandwich Board Sign or Sidewalk Sign) - A freestanding sign that is ordinarily in
the shape of an "A" or some variation thereof, which is readily moveable and is not permanently
attached to the ground or any structure.

Administrative Official - The person or person(s) designated, in writing, to administer and enforce this
Ordinance by the Mayor of the City of Bryant. Where no such designation exists in writing, the Planning
and Development Director and their assigns shall be responsible for administration of this Ordinance.

Applicant - Any person, firm, group, organization, or corporation applying for permits or other
approvals required by this Ordinance.

Awning - A shelter projecting from and supported by the exterior wall of a building constructed of
non-rigid materials on a supporting framework.

Awning Sign - A sign painted on, printed on, or attached flat against the surface of an awning in a
permanent manner. Banners attached to awnings are not defined as awning signs.

Banner - A type of temporary sign on cloth, canvas, fabric, vinyl, or other flexible material which
projects from or hangs from a building, pole or wire. Banners include flags, cable-hung banners and
vertical banners. Depending upon its method of attachment, a banner is a flat-mounted wall sign,
projecting sign, or free-standing sign.

Billboard - A permanent sign in a fixed location which meets any one or more of the following criteria:

1. It is used for the display of off-premise commercial messages;

2. The message display area, or any part thereof, is made available to message sponsors

other than the owner(s) or operator(s) of the sign, typically for a fee or other

consideration, i.e., it is general advertising for hire;

3. The sign is a principal use of the land, rather than appurtenant or accessory to some
other principal use of the land;

4. The sign is subject to rules and regulations concerning outdoor advertising which are

promulgated as a result of Minute Order 72-6 of the Arkansas State Highway

Commission, a subsequent amendment of those rules and regulations, or other state

regulation governing outdoor advertising;

5. The sign has a sign area greater than four hundred (400) square feet in size.

Blade Sign - see “Projecting Sign”

Building - As defined by the Zoning Code.

Canopy (Building) - A rigid multi sided structure covered with fabric, metal or other material and
supported by a building at one or more points or extremities and by columns or posts embedded in the
ground at other points or extremities.  May be illuminated by means of internal or external sources.
(compare "Marquee").

19



Canopy (Freestanding) - A rigid multi sided structure covered with fabric, metal or other material and
supported by columns or posts embedded in the ground.  May be illuminated by means of internal or
external sources.

Canopy Sign - A sign affixed or applied to the exterior facing surface or surfaces of a building canopy or
freestanding canopy. Banners attached to canopies are not defined as canopy signs.

Changeable Copy Sign - A sign on which the sign content can be changed or altered by manual, electric,
electromechanical, or electronic means. Changeable copy signs include the following types:

1. Manual Changeable Copy Sign: Signs whose alphabetic, pictographic, or symbolic sign

content can be changed or altered by manual means.

2. Electrical Changeable Copy Sign: Signs whose alphabetic, pictographic, or symbolic sign

content can be changed or altered on a fixed display surface composed of electrically

illuminated or mechanically driven changeable segments, including electronic message

boards.

City - Unless the context clearly discloses a contrary intent, the word "City" shall mean the City of
Bryant.

Clearance (of a sign) - The smallest vertical distance between the grade of the adjacent sidewalk,
pathway, street, highway, street curb, or vehicular/pedestrian passageway and the lowest point of any
sign, including framework and embellishments, extending over that grade.

Clear View Zone - An area where placement of signs presents a hazard by obstructing the vision of
pedestrian and vehicular traffic at street intersections, publicly accessible fire apparatus roads,
driveways, or alleys. Such zones are determined from measuring the point of intersection of lines that
extend along the edge of pavement between the aforementioned types of intersections.

Commercial Message or Speech - Any sign wording, logo, design, pictorial image, or other
representation that, directly or indirectly, names, advertises, or calls attention to a business,
commercial product, accommodation, service, or other commercial activity.

Copy - The graphic content of a sign surface in either permanent or removable letter, pictographic,
symbolic, or alphabetic form.

Electronic Message Center - A sign that uses changing light (including LEDs) to form a message,
pictures, symbols, or logos in a display controlled by electronic means.

Elevation - The entire side or front of a building including the parapet.  Utilized in determining the
permissible sign area.

Façade - The entire building front including the parapet.

Fire Apparatus Road - A road, whether public or private, from a building or development obtains access
to a public right-of-way and which is at least twenty (20) feet in width.

Freestanding Sign - A sign supported permanently upon the ground by poles, braces, base, or similar
support structure and not attached to any building. This sign type is inclusive of other sign types
meeting this definition.

20



Frontage - The length of the property line of any one premise along a public right-of-way or publicly
accessible fire apparatus road on which it borders.

Frontage, Building - The length of an outside building wall facing a frontage.

Government Sign - Any temporary or permanent sign erected and maintained by the city, county, state,
or federal government for traffic direction or for designation of or direction to any school, hospital,
historical site, or public service, property, or facility.

Ground-mounted Sign - A freestanding sign mounted directly to the ground supported by a structural
base separate from the sign cabinet and with no poles visible between the sign and the ground.

Illegal Sign - A sign which does not meet the requirements of this code, was not legally permitted, or
which does not have legal nonconforming status.

Illuminated Sign - A sign with an artificial light source incorporated internally or externally for the
purpose of illuminating the sign.

Incidental Sign - A permanent sign, not exceeding four (4) square feet in size, giving information or
direction for the convenience and necessity of the public such as “entrance”, “exit”, “no admittance”,
“telephone”, “parking”, etc.

Maintenance - Cleaning, painting, or minor repair of defective parts of a sign in a manner that does not
alter the design, or structure of the sign.

Mansard - A sloped roof or roof-like facade architecturally comparable to a building wall.

Monument Sign - A freestanding sign mounted directly to the ground supported by a structural base
separate from the sign cabinet and with no poles visible between the sign and the ground.

Noncommercial Message or Speech - Constitutionally protected speech or messages that addresses
topics of public concern or controversy such as, by way of example and not limitation: politics, religion,
philosophy, science, art, or social commentary. This definition shall be construed in light of relevant
court decisions.

Nonconforming Sign - A sign which was erected legally, but which does not comply with subsequently
enacted sign restrictions and regulations. Or, a sign which does not conform to the sign code
requirements, but for which a variance or similar approval has been issued.

Occupancy - The portion of a building or premises owned, leased, rented, or otherwise occupied for a
given use.

Off-Premise (sign) - A message or sign advertising commercial products, accommodations, services, or
activities not provided in or on the property or premises upon which the sign or message is located.
This definition does not include noncommercial messages.

On-Premise (sign) - A message or sign that advertises the commercial business, establishment,
accommodation, services, or activities provided on the premises on which the sign is located, or is
expected to be provided in the near future. In the case of developments subject to an alternative
signage plan or which are designated as a regional scale development, all establishments subject to the

21



plan or in the development are considered on-premise when located inside the development or area of
the approved plan. This definition does not include noncommercial messages.

Owner - A person recorded as such on official records. For the purposes of this Ordinance, the owner
of property on which a sign is located is presumed to be the owner of the sign unless facts to the
contrary are officially recorded or otherwise brought to the attention of the Administrative Official,
e.g., a sign leased from a sign company.

Parapet - The extension of a false front or wall above a roofline.

Person - Any individual, corporation, association, firm, partnership, or similarly defined interest.

Pole Cover - Cover enclosing or decorating poles or other structural supports of a sign.

Pole Sign - See freestanding sign.

Portable Sign - Any sign designed to be moved easily and not permanently affixed to the ground or to a
structure or building. Permanently affixed shall mean anchored to the ground as stipulated in Section
2303 Construction of the 1991 Edition of the Standard Building Code.

Post and Arm Sign - A sign with a height of four (4) feet or less and two (2) square feet or less in area
supported by an upright post with a horizontal arm, from which a sign is suspended. No part of the
structural support may be greater than six (6) inches in any dimension.

Projecting Sign - A sign, other than a flat wall sign, which is attached to and projects from a building
wall or other structure not specifically designed to support the sign. Typically projecting from the
facade of a building and perpendicular to the pedestrian or vehicular right of way.

Premises - A parcel of land with its appurtenances and building which, because of its unity of use, may
be regarded as the smallest conveyable unit of real estate.

Pylon Sign - See “pole sign”.

Roof Sign - A sign which is attached to a roof or to a structure located on a roof, exclusive of a mansard.

Roofline - The top edge of a roof or building parapet, whichever is higher, excluding any mansards,
cupolas, pylons, chimneys, or minor projections.

Rotating Sign - See "Animated Sign, Mechanically Energized"

Sign - Any object, device, display, or structure or part thereof situated outdoors or adjacent to the
interior of a window or doorway, which is used to advertise, identify, display, direct, or attract attention
to an object, person, institution, organization, business, product, service, event, or location by any
means including words, letters, pictures, logos, figures, designs, symbols, fixtures, colors, illumination,
or projected images.

Sign Face - The area of a sign on which the copy is placed. This does not include the mounting
structure. Sign face does not include an electronic message board or panel.

Sign Relocation - The movement of the sign to a new or changed location and includes without
limitation any movement of the sign to a new location on the same structure, on the same parcel or
elsewhere. Any movement of a sign, no matter how slight, is a relocation.

22



Structure - Any mechanical component to which the actual advertising face is attached. Including the
pole.

Temporary Sign - A sign not constructed or intended for long-term use or which is portable is
considered a temporary sign. This definition includes any sign not permanently embedded in the
ground, or not permanently affixed to a building or sign structure that is permanently embedded in the
ground. This includes banners, etc.

Under Canopy Sign - A sign fastened under a canopy structure and mounted perpendicular to the face
of the building from which the canopy projects.

Vertical Banner - A banner hung or projecting from a banner pole in the public right-of way designated
for civic use.

23



1 

Ordinance No. 2023-___ An Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 2019-26 Commercial and Residential 

Permit Fees 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-__ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 2019-26 COMMERCIAL AND 

RESIDENTIAL ELECTRICAL PERMIT FEES 

WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Bryant has determined that from time to time the 

fees for Commercial and Residential Permits should be modified and amended to follow surrounding 

City rates and maintain fair and competitive costing: and 

WHEREAS, The City Council has determined that Commercial and Residential Permit Fees 

charged by the City of Bryant Community Development Department should and hereby is amended as 

follows below. 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ordained the City Council of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, as 

follows: 

 Section1. Enactment of attached Commercial and Residential construction fees, 

The City Council of Bryant, Arkansas hereby approves and adopts by reference the permit and fee 

scheduled provided herein, and hereby Ordinance No. 2019-26.  This Ordinance shall be filed in the 

office of the City Clerk of the City of Bryant, Arkansas, and from the date on which this ordinance shall 

take effect shall be controlling for the rates charged as described below.  The provisions provided 

herein shall be controlled within the limits of the City of Bryant and those areas in the territory subject 

to Bryant permitting regulations. 

Schedule of Permit Fees Changes 

1. Electrical Systems, all New 

Construction, Additions 

and Accessory Buildings:              $0.14 per square foot of area under the roof, with a  

                 minimum of $100.00 whichever is greater. 

2. Electrical Systems, 

Renovations, Alterations 

and Repairs:    $50.00 per inspection 

 

3. Electrical Service Only, 

Service Change Outs or  

Electrical Service Upgrades:  $50.00 per inspection 

 

4. Temporary Service Pole:  $50.00 per inspection 

 

 



2 

Ordinance No. 2023-___ An Ordinance Amending Ordinance No. 2019-26 Commercial and Residential 

Permit Fees 

 

5. TPP (temporary power to  

Structure prior to final inspection: $50.00 per inspection 

 

6. Re-inspections and Additional 

Inspections (*see note below): $50.00 per inspection 

 

7. Alternative Energy Systems – 

Panels, Fuel Cells, Wind 

Generators, Etc.:   $100.00 Electrical Fee 

     for each system.  

8. Mobile Home inside  

Mobile Home Park   $100 per residence 

 

9. Mobile Home outside  

Mobile Home Park   $150 per residence 

*Note – Re-inspections will not be re-scheduled until each re-inspection fee for each trade that 

failed inspection has been paid. 

 Section 2. Severability 

The provisions of the Ordinance are separable and if any section, phrase, or provision shall be declared 

invalid, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the Ordinance. 

 Section 3.  Repealer 

All ordinances and resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent 

of such conflict. 

Section 4.  Emergency Declared.  

This Ordinance is necessary to preserve the public peace, health, safety, and welfare, an emergency is declared 

to exist and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its passage. 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS ________ DAY OF ______________, 2023, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF BRYANT, 

ARKANSAS. 

 

 

 

  

___________________________  ___________________________ 

Mayor Allen E. Scott       Mark Smith, City Clerk 


	Invocation
	Pledge of Allegiance
	Call to Order
	Approval of Minutes
	Presentations and Announcements
	Director's Report
	Public Comments
	Old Business
	New Business
	Finance
	City Attorney
	Community Development
	Parks and Recreation

	Council Comments
	Mayor Comments
	Adjournments

